Does Genetic Polymorphisms Affect Health?



# PROFESSOR DR.PATIMAH ISMAIL

# Does Genetic Polymorphisms Affect Health?

# PROFESSOR DR.PATIMAH ISMAIL

B.Sc Hons (Malaya), Ph.D (Wales, UK)

# 23 September 2011

Dewan Kuliah Utama Fakulti Perubatan dan Sains Kesihatan Universiti Putra Malaysia



Universiti Putra Malaysia Press Serdang • 2011 http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my

#### © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press First Print 2011

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing from the publisher, except by a reviewer who wishes to quote brief passages in a review written for inclusion in a magazine or newspaper.

UPM Press is a member of the Malaysian Book Publishers Association (MABOPA) Membership No.: 9802

Perpustakaan Negara Malaysia Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Patimah Ismail
Does genetic polymorphisms affect health? / Patimah Ismail.
Bibliography: p. 64
ISBN 978-967-344-244-7
1. Genetic polymorphisms. 2. Medical genetics.
3. Disease susceptibility--Genetic aspects. 4. Speeches, addresses, etc
I. Title.
616.042

Reka letak teks: Sahariah Abdol Rahim @ IbrahimReka bentuk kulit: Md Fairus Ahmad

Design, layout and printed by Penerbit Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang Selangor Darul Ehsan Tel: 03-8946 8855 / 8854 Fax: 03-8941 6172 http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my

### Contents

ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	3
Genetic Polymorphisms	3
How do Mutations Occur?	3
Types of Mutations	4
Single Base Substitutions	4
Mis-sense Mutations	5
Nonsense Mutations	6
Silent Mutations	6
Frameshift Mutations	7
Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms	7
RISK FACTORS	9
Obesity	11
Cholesterol	14
Serum Electrolytes	15
Genetic Factors	17
GENETIC POLYMORPHIC STUDIES	21
Study Strategies	21
Candidate Gene Approach	22
Case-control Study	23
Cross Sectional Study	25
CANDIDATE GENES FOR ESSENTIAL HYPERTENSIO	DN,
TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS	26
Genetic Polymorphisms in Hypertension	27
Polymorphisms of Renin Angiotensin-Aldosterone	
System	27
Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Gene Polymorphism	28
Insertion/ Deletion Polymorphism of ACE Gene	29
Angiotensinogen Gene Polymorphisms	30
Aldosterone Synthase Gene Polymorphism	32
Aldosterone Gene Polymorphism	33
Adrenoceptors Polymorphisms of B2-adrenoceptor	35
Polymorphisms of β3-adrenoceptor	37
Alpha-Adrenorecptor Gene Polymorphism	37

CANDIDATE GENES FOR CONGENITAL HEART	38
DISEASE	
Homocysteine Metabolism Enzyme Gene Polymorphisms and Congenital Heart Disease	38
Cardiac Transcription Factors Gene Polymorphism	41
GATA4 Gene Polymorphism	41
TBX20 Gene Polymorphism	42
Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Gene Polymorphism	43
TECHNIQUE TO DETECT SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE	44
NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISM	
PCR- Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism	44
Restriction Enzymes	46
Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	47
GENETIC POLYMORPHIC STUDIES IN MALAYSIA-	48
RESEARCH PAPERS FROM GENETIC RESEARCH	
Hypertension and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	48
End Stage Renal Disease	52
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	54
CONCLUSIONS	56
SELECTED PUBLICATIONS	56
REFERENCES	64
BIOGRAPHY	81
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	85
LIST OF INAGURAL LECTURES	87

### ABSTRACT

Genetic polymorphisms are variations found in DNA sequences and they are integral to the development of genetic markers to identify individuals at risk and it requires certain techniques and strategies to detect the mutations. Most of the variations found in DNA sequences are stable and occur in the form of single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs), insertion/deletion (I/D) and variable tandem repeats. Among the genetic polymorphisms, SNPs are the most abundant form in the human genome, accounting for more than 90% of all differences among individuals. Variation occurs when a single nucleotide (A, T, C, or G) alters in the genome sequence. SNPs are stable, di-allelic and the two alleles represent the "wild-type" and the "mutant type" forms. SNPs are frequently studied in relation to various cancers for their known biochemical or physiological function. Several studies have been done in understanding the possible role of genetic variation in the human genome. Identifying the association between the ancestral variants in genes are common in polygenic diseases which become increasingly reasonable with improved methods for detecting genetic variants on a genome-wide scale. Over the years, several researches have been conducted to detect the cause of various genetic disorders. Genetic polymorphisms play an important role in human health especially in the development of essential hypertension and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Our genetic research group works toward understanding the interaction between genes and environmental exposures in various human diseases such as congenital heart disease, hypertension, metabolic syndrome, end stage renal disease, prostate cancer, polycystic kidney disease etc. Our group research has two main elements: investigating the role of environmental exposure in critical target gene mutation and the

role of genetic susceptibility and environmental exposure in those disorders. In addition, more fundamental researches are going on in order to know the genetic and allelic frequency of certain susceptibility genes for the development of various disorders.

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Genetic Polymorphism**

Genetic polymorphism is defined as the inheritance of a trait controlled by a single genetic locus with two alleles, in which the least common allele has a frequency of about 1% or greater whereas the term mutation is usually reserved for DNA sequence variants that cause diseases and are present in the population at a frequency of less than 1% (Gelehrler and Collins, 1990). Genetic polymorphisms are different forms of DNA sequence. "Poly" means many, and "morph" means form. Polymorphisms are a type of genetic diversity within a population's gene pool.

DNA sequences are different among individuals in groups and populations. Most of the variations found in DNA sequence are stable and occur in the form of single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs), insertion/deletion (I/D) and variable tandem repeats. SNPs are stable, they are di-allelic, the two alleles represent the "wild-type" and the "mutant type" forms (Doris *et al.*, 2002). Variation occurs when a single nucleotide (A, T, C, or G) alters in the genome sequence. Common sequence variants occur in about 1 in every 1000 bases of coding/ regulatory sequence. In every gene there is an average of 4-8 SNPs occurring either in the exons or coding regions or in the nearby exons and introns boundaries in the upstream regulatory regions. Each person would be heterozygous for 24,000-40,000 non-synonymous (amino acid altering) substitutions (Lele *et al.*, 2003).

## **How Do Mutations Occur?**

Genetic polymorphisms may be the result of chance processes, or may have been induced by external agents that could be such as viruses or radiation causes. If there are differences in DNA sequence among individuals, it has been shown to be associated with diseases and it is usually called a genetic mutation. Changes in DNA sequence which have been confirmed to be caused by external agents are also generally called "mutations" rather than "polymorphisms" (Smith, 2002).

Mutation can occur when there is a mistake which can be called copying errors when DNA replicates itself. Other changes are introduced as a result of DNA damage which is due to environmental agents including sunlight, cigarette smoke and radiation in which these mutations are not passed on to children. Germline mutation, which can be passed from a parent to a child when a mutation occurs in the DNA of cells that produce eggs and sperms and every cell in their body, will have this error in their DNA and cause diseases to run in families, and are responsible for the hereditary diseases.

# **Types of Mutations**

Human DNA polymorphisms can be split into two groups: single nucleotide polymorphisms and insertion/ deletion (INDELS) of one or more nucleotides. Insertion/Deletion can be further divided into those with multiple alleles (multiallelic) and those with only two alleles (diallelic). Nearly all of the multiallelic indels are based on tandem repeats, mostly short tandem repeats. More recently, millions of SNPs candidates have been identified and are beginning to apply (Sachidanandam *et al.*, 2001)

# **Single Base Substitutions**

A SNP ("snip") is a single base mutation in DNA and it is a source variance in a genome. SNPs are the most simple form and most common source of genetic polymorphism in the human genome (90% of all human DNA polymorphisms).

There are two types of nucleotide base substitutions resulting in SNPs.

- 1. A transition substitution occurs between purines (A, G) or between pyrimidines (C, T). This type of substitution constitutes two thirds of all SNPs.
- 2. A transversion substitution occurs between a purine and a pyrimidine.

## **Mis-sense Mutations**

Mis-sense mutation is a point mutation in which a single nucleotide is changed which results in a codon that codes for a different amino acid. For example in sickle cell anaemia the 17<sup>th</sup> nucleotide of the gene for the beta chain of haemoglobin is changed from 'A' to 'T'. This changes the codon from 'GAG' to 'GTG' resulting in the 6<sup>th</sup> amino acid of the chain being changed from glutamic acid to valine (Figure 1). This apparently trivial alteration to the beta globin gene alters the quaternary structure of haemoglobin, which has a profound influence on the physiology and well being of an individual.

	Thr	Pro	Glu	Glu
Normal	ACT	CCT	GAG	GAG
			¥	
Mutated	ACT	CCT	GTG	GAG
	Thr	Pro	Val	Glu

Figure 1 An example of mis-sense mutation in which a substitution of 'A' in the second codon to a 'G' leads to an amino acid substitution of Glutamine to Valine.

## **Nonsense Mutations**

In a nonsense mutation, the new base changes a codon that specified an amino acid into one of the STOP codons (TAA, TAG, TGA). This will cause translation of the mRNA to stop prematurely and a truncated protein to be produced (Figure 2). This truncated protein will not function correctly. Nonsense mutations occur in between 15% to 30% of all inherited diseases including cystic fibrosis, haemophilia, retinitis pigmentosa and duchenne muscular dystrophy.

	His	
Normal	CAG	
	Ļ	
Mutated	TAG	
	Gln	STOP codon

Figure 2 An example of nonsense mutation (Histidine to Glutamine) which can occur in Cystic fibrosis patients.

# **Silent Mutations**

Silent mutations are mutations that will not change the final protein product and can only be detected by sequencing the gene. Most amino acids that make up a protein are encoded by several different codons As an example, the third base in the 'CAG' codon is changed to an 'A' to give 'CAA', which is a glutamine which would still be incorporated into the protein product. This is because the mutated codon still codes for the same amino acid. These types of mutations are 'silent' and have no detrimental effect.

# **Frameshift Mutations**

A frameshift mutation is caused by insertions or deletions of a number of nucleotides that is not evenly divisible by three from a DNA sequence. This mutation in general causes the reading of the codons to code for different amino acids, but there may be exceptions resulting from the redundancy in the genetic code. If the stop codon ("UAA", "UGA" or "UAG") in the original sequence would not be read, then a stop codon could result at an earlier or later site (Figure 3). Thus the protein resulting from this could either be abnormally short or abnormally long, and will most likely not be functional.



Figure 3 Deletion of U occurs in Tay-Sachs disease.

## **Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms**

Single nucleotide polymorphisms are the most common type of genetic variation among people. Findings from the Human Genome Project show that the DNA of any two people is more than 99.9 percent identical, but 0.1 percent accounts for all the genetic differences among people. In literal terms, that means that one person might have blue eyes rather than green, or a susceptibility to lung cancer, or perfect pitch, because the sequence of their DNA - a long chain of adenine (A), guanine (G), cytosine (C) and thymine (T) molecules – differs from another person. Rather than having an A-T pair of molecules at a certain spot on the DNA chain, a person might have a G-C pair. On the other hand, that difference might

not have any effect at all on a person's health or appearance. SNPs in humans are unknown, but there are probably between 10 and 30 million SNPs, about one every 100 to 300 bases. Of these SNPs, perhaps four million are common SNPs, with both alleles of each SNP having a frequency above 20 percent. Most SNPs have no effect on health or development, but some of these genetic differences have proven to be very important in the study of human health.

Polymorphisms usually affect on gene structure, function and regulation and can identify the individuals who are predisposed to disease (Collins et al., 1997). The functional polymorphisms affect gene regulation or protein sequence whereas non-functional polymorphisms do not. Some SNP alleles are the actual functional variants that contribute to the risk of getting a disease (Ralston et al., 2002). Individuals with such a SNP allele have a higher risk for that disease than do individuals without that SNP allele. Most SNPs are not these functional variants, but are useful as markers for finding them. To find the regions with genes that contribute to a disease, the frequencies of many SNP alleles are compared in individuals with and without the disease. SNP alleles in a particular region are more frequent in individuals with the disease than in individuals without the disease, those SNPs and their alleles are associated with the disease. These associations between a SNP and a disease indicate that there may be genes in that region that contribute to the disease.

For most SNPs, any population has individuals of all possible genotypes for a SNP, but populations differ in the frequencies of individuals with each of the different genotype. About 85 percent of human SNPs variation are within all populations, and about 15 percent are among populations. Thus two random individuals within a village are almost as different in their SNP alleles as any two random individuals from anywhere in the world. Although a

small proportion of SNPs have alleles that are common in some groups but rare in others, most SNP alleles that are common in one group will be common in other groups. Under the Common-Disease/Common-Variant theory, common variants that contribute to a disease in one group will also contribute to the disease in other groups, although the amount of the contribution may vary (http://. www.genome.gov, Haplotype Map Development Report).

#### **RISK FACTORS**

Essential hypertension (EHT) and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) are the two most common polygenic complex disorders caused from interaction of several genes with each other and with other factors such as obesity, dietary salt intake, smoking and alcohol consumption. Framingham study reported the prevalence of hypertension increases significantly with age and the age-related rise in blood pressure and it was observed consistently in most populations (Ihab *et al.*, 2001). People at age 35 and older are at risk of developing hypertension. But the prevalence of hypertension increases to 10.7% and exceeds 45% in those over 60 years of age. This may be due to an exposure to environmental factors and lifestyle. The normal age-related rise in blood pressure is exaggerated in population with T2DM which may be due to premature vascular aging or vascular inflammation leading to increase arterial stiffening.

Diabetes tends to run in families. A person with a family history of diabetes is 2-4 times as likely to develop diabetes as someone without a family history. Familial and genetic factors may also play an important role in the determination of some major risk factors, especially hypertension, lipid abnormalities and glucose intolerance. The genetic link for T2DM is stronger than the genetic link for type 1. Having a blood relative with T2DM increases the risk in both men and women. Experimental models of genetic hypertension have shown that the inherited tendency to hypertension resides primarily in the kidney. For example, animal and human studies show that a transplanted kidney from a hypertensive donor raises the blood pressure and increases the need for antihypertensive drugs in recipients coming from "normotensive" families. Conversely a kidney from a normotensive donor does not raise the blood pressure in the recipient.

Cigarette smoking is another major risk factor for developing hypertension. Cigarette smoking can repeatedly produce a transient rise in BP of approximately 5 to 10 mmHg (Freestone *et al.*, 1982). Habitual smokers generally have lower blood pressures than nonsmokers as observed in most (Mikkelsen *et al.*, 1997) but not all studies (Primatesta *et al.*, 2001). Smoking in any hypertensive patient markedly increases the risk of secondary cardiovascular complications and appears to enhance the progression of renal insufficiency (Regalado *et al.*, 2000).

The incidence and mortality of coronary heart disease (CHD) is twice as high in male cigarette smokers compared to non-smokers (Fodor and Tzerovska, 2004). The risk of developing CHD is directly related to the number of cigarettes smoked. Individuals who discontinue smoking may reduce this risk within a year or two, although it still remains slightly higher compared to nonsmokers. Even though dietary habits can have a direct effect on blood pressure, lifestyle choices such as alcohol intake, cigarette smoking, physical activity, and obesity can profoundly impact blood pressure regulation (Tam *et al.*,2005).

When a person smokes, the body resists insulin and there is an increase in glucose level lead to diabetes. Adding smoking to diabetes drastically raises the risk of other diabetic complications. Smoking is also related to the premature development of

microvascular complications of diabetes and may even have a role in the development of T2DM (Haire-Joshu *et al.*, 1999). Kawakami *et al*, (1997), examined the effects of smoking on the 8-year incidence of T2DM on 2,312 Japanese men and concluded that age of smoking initiation and number of cigarettes smoked are major risk factors for developing diabetes. In another study, the effects of cigarette smoking are evaluated on insulin sensitivity of 40 patients with T2DM and found that insulin resistance is markedly aggravated among those who smoked (Targher *et al.*, 1997).

## Obesity

The prevalence of obesity is rapidly increasing in developing as well as in industrialised countries resulting in a prohibitive health and economic burden on society (Hall *et al.*, 2002). Dietary intake and physical activity are important contributing factors in the development of obesity. If calorie intake is in excess of requirement and is not utilised overtime, it will be stored mainly as body fat and later it will lead to overweight or obesity. Obesity people are more likely to develop high blood pressure than others. The relationship between obesity and blood pressure appears to be linear and exists throughout the non-obese range. But the strength of the association of obesity with hypertension varies among different racial and ethnic groups (Shai *et al.*, 2006). The overall scheme for the mechanism of obesity which can cause several disorders is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4 Overall scheme for the mechanisms by which obesity, if predominantly upper body or visceral in location, could promote diabetes, dyslipidaemia and hypertension via hyperinsulinaemia (Adapted from Vikrant and Tiwary, 2001).

#### Does Genetic Polymorphisms Affect Health?

Body weight of an individual is usually determined by an interaction between genetic, environmental and psychosocial factors acting through the physiological mediators of energy intake and expenditure. A strong positive correlation between body mass index and blood pressure has been noted consistently in cross-sectional and longitudinal studies (Calderon *et al.*, 2005). Obese individuals have higher cardiac output, stroke volume, and central and total blood volume and lower peripheral resistance than non-obese individuals with similar blood pressure (Oren *et al.*, 1996). Increased body mass index (BMI) and/or waist/hip ratio (WHR) increases the risk of hypertension, and it has been found that waist circumference (WC) is positively associated with high blood pressure (Feldstein *et al.*, 2005).

Adolescent obesity is also associated with the insulin resistance syndrome which includes hypertension and T2DM. Obesity is thought to be susceptible to type-2 diabetes primarily by causing insulin resistance (Dewan *et al.*, 2003). Insulin resistance places a greater demand on the pancreatic capacity to produce insulin, which also declines with age, leading to the development of clinical diabetes. Physical inactivity, both a cause and consequence of weight gain, also contributes to insulin resistance.

Obesity is a major underlying cause of metabolic syndrome which includes abdominal obesity, hypertension, insulin resistance with or without glucose intolerance, or diabetes (Sarti & Gallagher, 2006). The RAAS seems to be activated in obesity, despite a state of volume expansion and sodium retention. Elevated serum aldosterone levels have been reported in the obese (Engeli *et al.*, 2002) and it is postulated by a fatty acid derived from adipose tissue causes the release of a hepatic factor that, in turn, steps up aldosterone synthesis (Goodfriend *et al.*, 1999).

## Cholesterol

Cholesterol is a fat-like substance presents in cell membranes that circulates in the blood and it is a precursor of bile acids and steroid hormones. Cholesterol travels in the blood in distinct particles containing both lipid and proteins (lipoproteins). It circulates through Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL) and High Density Lipoprotein (HDL). Hypertension and hypercholesterimia (high intake of dietary fats) often co-exist as risk to CHD. Several studies have reported the relation between blood pressure and cholesterol level (Lewington and Clarke, 2005). More than 40 percent of people with diabetes have abnormal levels of cholesterol and similar fatty substances that circulate in the blood. These abnormalities appear to be associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease among persons with diabetes. The strong association between hyperlipidemia, hypertension and T2DM lead to an extensive list of long-term complications, including a high rate of cardiovascular death and even amputation due to accelerated atherosclerosis, and also the typical complications of diabetes such as retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy (Khan et al., 1996).

Low-density lipoprotein accounts for the majority of cholesterol in the blood. It is sometimes referred to as "bad" cholesterol because it can build up in the arteries and cause heart disease and stroke. On the other hand High-density lipoprotein help to remove cholesterol from the body and referred to as "good" Cholesterol. Higher levels of HDL more than 60mg/dl are better in which it can protect the heart disease.

Triglycerides are a type of fat in which majority of them are circulating in the blood. They are carried throughout the body by a special lipoprotein called a chylomicron. Triglycerides can come from the fat we eat, or fat which is made in the body from carbohydrates. Too many triglycerides in the blood are called

hypertriglyceridemia, which is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease (heart disease). People on low carbohydrate diets rarely have triglycerides above normal (150 mg/dL). High triglyceride levels are associated with low HDL, obesity, diabetes and high pressure (Fruchart et al., 2005). The presence of increased triglycerides and decreased HDL levels are the best predictor of cardiovascular disease in patients with T2DM (Laakso et al., 1993). Plasma triglyceride level is frequently increased in T2DM, mainly due to an increased number of VLDL particles (Howard et al., 1995). In type 2 diabetic patients, the major features of dyslipidemia are increased triglyceride levels, decreased HDL-C levels, and changes in the composition and level of LDL-C (Hobbs et al., 2006). Epidemiologic data indicate that risk factors for coronary disease in T2DM include elevated LDL-C levels, HDL-C levels, elevated blood pressure, hyperglycaemia and cigarette smoking (Turner et al., 1998). Although concentrations of total and LDL cholesterol in diabetic individuals are reportedly comparable with levels found in people without diabetes, low levels of HDL cholesterol and elevated triglyceride levels, both are probable contributors to cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Laakso et al., 1996). The prevalence of these abnormalities appears to be approximately twice as high as in patients with T2DM.

## **Serum Electrolytes**

Serum electrolytes such as sodium, potassium and chloride play a central role in the normal regulation of blood pressure (Giasuddin *et al.*, 1991). Especially sodium and potassium regulate the fluid balance of the body and influence the cardiac output. Several studies suggested that the present levels of intake of mineral elements are not optimum for maintaining normal blood pressure but predispose to the development of hypertension.

Sodium plays a central role in many physiologic functions including the regulation of intravascular and extravascular volume status and blood pressure levels (Ajani et al., 2005). Sodium retention occurs as a characteristic alteration in Type I or Type II diabetes; exchangeable body Na+ is increased by 10% on average. This abnormality develops in the uncomplicated stage of diabetes and differentiates diabetic from non-diabetic essential hypertensive subjects. The pathogenetic role of sodium retention in diabetes-associated hypertension is supported by positive correlations between systolic or mean blood pressure and Naex and by normalisation of blood pressure after removal of excess sodium by diuretic treatment in hypertensive diabetic subjects. The latter may also have an enhanced sensitivity of blood pressure to sodium. Plasma levels of active renin, angiotensin II, aldosterone, and catecholamine are usually normal or low in metabolically stable type I or type II diabetes. However, an exaggerated vascular reactivity to nor epinephrine and angiotensin II commonly occurs already at uncomplicated stages of Type I or Type II diabetes. This may be a manifestation of functional (i.e., intracellular electrolytes) and/or morphological (proliferation, narrowing, and stiffening) vasculopathy. Diabetes-associated sodium retention, vasculopathy, and a presumably inherited predisposition for both diabetes and EHT may represent important complementary factors favoring the frequent occurrence of hypertension in the diabetic population (Weidmann and Ferrari, 1993). In a large prospective study of nutritional factors and development of hypertension among American men, a low potassium intake is a predictor for the development of hypertension with a relative risk of 1.54 for subjects in the lowest quintile of potassium intake (Acherio et al., 1992).

#### **Genetic Factors**

Hypertension is an important public health challenge worldwide because of its prevalence and its role as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Hypertension is a complex genetic disorder caused by interplay between several 'risk' genes and environmental factors. Genetic elements contribute to 30-50% of the blood pressure variability in human essential hypertension (Garcia et al., 2003). In 2005, Kearney et al. reported that an estimated total number of adults with hypertension in 2000 was 972 million. Of these, 333 million were estimated to be in economically developed countries and 639 million in economically developing countries. By 2025, the number of people with hypertension will increase by about 60% to a total of 1.56 billion as the proportion of elderly people will increase significantly. Other reasons are the continuing population increase and changes in lifestyle, which include a diet rich in sugar and high-fat processed foods and sedentary behavior, mediated by television, computers and cars. Since the proportion of hypertensive people will increase dramatically worldwide, the prevention, detection, treatment and control of this condition should be a top priority.

Hypertension is about twice as common in subjects who have one or two hypertensive parents. Many epidemiological studies suggested that genetic factors account for approximately 30% of the variation in blood pressure in various populations (Izawa *et al.*, 2003). Although separate genes and genetic factors have been linked to the development of EHT, multiple genes are most likely to contribute the development of the disorder in a particular individual (Figure 5). The role of these genes is extremely difficult to determine the relative contribution to the disease. It has been well supported from comparisons of parents with their monozygotic and dizygotic twin studies (Koskenvuo *et al.*, 1992).



(Adapted from Nordfors et al., 2005)

development of hypertension

Does Genetic Polymorphisms Affect Health?

By acquiring detailed knowledge about an individual's genetic background, through the analysis of polymorphisms and their impact on gene expression and protein levels, as well as the influence of environmental exposure, a big step is taken towards an early prediction of a patient's clinical outcome, thereby making it possible to identify 'high-risk patients' at an early stage of the disease. However, the mechanisms that resulted in a specific phenotype are complex and represent a great challenge for clinicians and researchers, considering the great number of existing both known and unknown gene-gene and gene-environment interactions. The genetic and clinical data collected may be used for several applications, such as early risk factor stratification, for prediction of response to a specific treatment, in pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics, for the selection of participants in clinical trials and finally as a basic research tool (Nordfors *et al.*, 2005)

The identification of genetic variants that contribute to the development of hypertension is complicated, for example cardiac output and total peripheral resistance phenotypes determine the development of hypertension but also controlled by intermediary phenotypes, including the autonomic nervous system, vasopressor/ vasodepressor hormones, the structure of the cardiovascular system, body fluid volume and renal function, and many others. Moreover, these intermediary phenotypes are also controlled by complex mechanisms including blood pressure itself (Williams et al., 1994). Thus there are many genes that could participate in the development of hypertension. Genetic factors also influence behavioral patterns, which might lead to BP elevation. Tendencies towards obesity or alcoholism are influenced by both genetic and environmental factors; thus the proportion of blood pressure variability caused by inheritance is difficult to determine and may vary in different populations (Adamo and Tesson, 2008).

Genes play an important role in the development of T2DM. T2DM is a polygenic disorder with multiple genes located on different chromosomes contributing to its susceptibility. Analysis of a particular genetic factor is further complicated by numerous environmental factors interrelated with genes to influence the disorder.

The prevalence of T2DM varies widely among different populations. Part of the observed ethnic variability can be attributed to non genetic environmental factors; however, the fact that the prevalence of the disease varies substantially among ethnic groups that share a similar environment suggests that genetic factors also contribute to predisposition to the disease (Diamond, 2003). Another source of evidence for genetic contribution to the disease is familial aggregation also share common environmental traits. The odd ratio for offspring of a single affected parent is 3.5 and 6.1 if both parents are affected compared to those with no parental diabetes history (Meigs *et al.*, 2000). The report from several studies supported a genetic basis for measures of both insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion (Gerich *et al.*, 1998).

Understanding the genetic variation that contributes to the pathogenesis of T2DM will require the use of a wide variety of in vitro and in vivo tools for functional analysis. Understanding the contribution of genetic variation to disease within populations will require a simultaneous acquisition of detailed genetic and environmental (life-style) data from very large population cohorts and case-control studies.

# **GENETIC POLYMORPHIC STUDIES**

# **Study Strategies**

There are two main strategies for identifying genes involved in human disease. In monogenic disorders linkage analysis is performed using panels of genetic markers (i.e. microsatellite markers) to identify a particular locus that co-segregates with disease in affected families. However in multifactorial disorders, where a phenotype depends on complex interactions between several genes, as well as with environmental factors, it is more difficult to identify a particular gene variant contributing to a specific phenotypic trait. In this case, the most common approach is the association studies using sets of SNPs in candidate genes for genotyping of clinically well-characterised patient materials, which need to be large enough to detect also small effects of SNPs. A critical step in such association studies is to identify candidate genes for investigation. In contrast to linkage studies, candidate gene association studies therefore require previous understanding of the pathophysiologic pathways involved in a particular trait.

Basic research strategies that may be applied in studies of patients with end-stage renal disease are;

- Linkage studies in families
- Monogenic disorders
- Microsatellite markers
- Association studies in populations
- Polygenic disorders
- Well-characterised clinical material
- High throughput SNP-analysis
- Microarray technology (DNA chips)
- Hypothesis generation

The genetic polymorphisms are integral to the development of genetic markers to identify the individuals at risk of developing the diseases. To identify the common disease susceptibility loci, many studies encompassing genome-wide association mapping, linkage (Krushkal *et al.*, 1999), candidate gene association (Yamada *et al.*, 2002) have been utilised. It has been realised that genetic susceptibility to the common complex disorders probably involves many genes, most of which have small effects (Cordell and Clayton, 2005)

## **Candidate Gene Approach**

The search for susceptibility genes in predisposes to hypertension and T2DM centers on two major techniques, linkage mapping and the candidate gene approach. Linkage mapping also known as positional cloning, is the process of systematically scanning the entire genome of various members of families affected by the disorder using regularly spaced, genetic variation those exact position is known (i.e., genetic markers). Using those families, the genetic regions associated or "in linkage" with the disease can be identified by observing that affected family members which share certain alleles located in those regions more frequently than would be expected by chance. These regions can then be isolated, or cloned, for further analysis and characterization of the responsible genes. Linkage mapping techniques have already resulted in the identification of several potential DNA regions that may contain susceptibility genes for hypertension (Caulfield et al., 2003) and T2DM (Huang et al., 2006). The primary advantage of linkage mapping is that investigators need no prior knowledge of the physiology or biology underlying the disorder being studied, which is important for complex disorders. Whereas the linkage mapping approach is an unbiased search of the entire genome without any

preconceptions about the role of a certain gene, the candidate gene approach allows researchers to investigate the validity of an "educated guess" about the genetic basis of a disorder.

The candidate gene approach involves assessing the association between a particular allele or a set of alleles of a gene that may be involved in the disease. In other words, this type of association study tries to answer the question, "Is one allele of a candidate gene more frequently seen in subjects with the disease than in subjects without the disease?" The candidate genes are selected on the basis of known biochemical or physiologic components related to disease (Kohara *et al.*, 2008). In contrast with linkage mapping studies, however, studies of candidate genes do not require large families with both affected and unaffected members, but can be performed with unrelated cases and control subjects or with small families. Moreover, candidate gene studies are better suited for detecting genes underlying common and more complex diseases where the risk associated with any given candidate gene is relatively small (Kwon *et al.*, 2000, Collins *et al.*, 1997).

## **Case-Control Study**

Genetic studies can be categorised into candidate gene approaches and genome-wide screens. Association studies are adequate for testing candidate genes, or narrowing down to a particular gene once a region of linkage has been detected. The association or case-control study tests the different allele or genotype frequencies between the case and control populations which allow the use of large set of unrelated individuals using this paradigm rather than using a pedigree-based linkage analysis. In general, a case-control study has greater statistical power than a linkage analysis, but it is also more liable to show false positive results. This strategy is to search for the association between one or more markers within the critical interval and the disease under investigation. This is based on the concept that the susceptibility allele is more prevalent in the Hypertensive, T2DM group or any other disease, than in the controls (Lander and Schork, 1994). In recent years the population based case–control studies of unrelated individuals earned the status of gold standard in the search for the association of the sequence differences with complex diseases. The important advantage is a large analytical power and the disadvantages are frequent results of borderline significance and lack of confirmatory reports from other populations or ethnic groups (Ardile *et al.*, 2002; Morton and Collins, 1998). These studies have greater power to detect the effects of common variants (Risch & Merikangas, 1996).

Control subjects are a valid comparison group for these association studies, though it could not be predicted whether some of them would develop various diseases in future. Statistical evidence for an association between an allele and a phenotype comes from one of three situations. (i) The allele itself might be functional and directly affect expression of the phenotype. (ii) The allele might be correlated with, or be in linkage disequilibrium with, a causative allele located nearby. (iii) The association could be attributable to chance, artifact, or selection bias (Agarwal et al., 2005). Usually, association studies are performed using a case-control cohort format with all the difficulties of ensuring that the controls are true controls (Cardon et al., 2003). Population stratification (namely the separation of a study population into subgroups) is often a confounding factor. Association and linkage studies are complementary methods that, together, provide the means to probe the genome and describe the genetic etiology of complex human traits, potentially elucidating the mechanism leading to some of

the most important contemporary health problems (Williams *et al.,* 1997).

Some questions to be answered when reading a research paper on association between DNA polymorphisms and phenotype (Adapted from Nordfors *et al.*, 2005);

- Is the material large enough (i.e >200-300 patients ) to be sufficiently powered
- Have controls been evaluated?
- Have the positions of SNPs been clearly defined?
- Are data about Hardy-Weinberg calculations presented and are the criteria fulfilled in controls?
- Has linkage disequilibrium among different SNPs on the same chromosome been evaluated?
- If the material has sufficient power has a haplotype analysis been performed?
- Has the protein products been analysed?
- Does the SNP affect transcription of the gene or protein expression?
- Has a multiple regression analysis been performed accounting for the impact of age, race, gender and co-morbidity?
- Are the results confirming the results in other patient groups?

# **Cross Sectional Study**

A cross-sectional study is an observational study in which disease and exposure status is measured simultaneously in a given population (Kelsey, 1996). It is also called as 'Synchronic study' which provide a snapshot of the frequencies and characteristics of exposure/disease in a population at a particular point in time and, as a result, valuable insights for delineating the multi-step association between exposure and disease occurrence (Kang *et al.*, 2005). This strategy is to search for the association between one or more markers within the critical interval and the disease under investigation. This is based on the concept that the susceptibility allele is more prevalent in EHT, T2DM group or any other disease, than in the controls (Lander and Schork, 1994). The cross-sectional studies take place at a single point in time and cannot identify cause-and-effect relationships, though they do identify the existence of health problems. The cross-sectional studies are considered to be "hypothesis generating", such that clues to exposure/disease relationships can often be seen than case-control, cohort studies (Kelsey, 1996)

# CANDIDATE GENES OF HYPERTENSION AND TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS

Several studies have been suggested that, several genes were hypothesised to be involved in both EHT and T2DM. Some of the candidate genes showed no consistent definition for hypertension, other than those used clinically and also there are no differences between the ratios of positive to negative studies whether a rigorous or loose definition is used. Moreover there is no gene consistently associated with or linked to EHT and T2DM (Agarwal *et al.*, 2005, Radha *et al.*, 2007; Van Ittersum *et al.*, 2000).

The screening of candidate genes for nucleotide variants that are associated with EHT and T2DM is a core component of much diabetes and hypertension genetics research. Historically, several studies of the genetics of EHT and T2DM have analysed to select the candidate genes because of known or presumed biological function, with an understandable focus on the biochemical

pathways. The choice of candidates are inevitably limited by our incomplete understanding of the regulation of the processes and the pathophysiology of EHT and T2DM.

# **Genetic Polymorphisms in Hypertension**

The World Health Organization (WHO) definition of High blood pressure or hypertension is a systolic blood pressure ≥160 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure≥ 95mmHg. Hypertension is a major chronic disease in the world and it is present in 20-30% of adult population. Essential hypertension which is a heterogeneous disorder, with different patients having different causal factors that lead to high BP, account for 98% of hypertensive patients, whereas secondary hypertension is due to underlying diseases such as renal artery disease, adrenal hormone excess or drugs (Beevers and MacGregor., 1999). It has been approximated that there are nearly 972 million people with hypertension world-wide (Vasan, 2009). Epidemiological studies demonstrated that hypertension is a great risk of cardiovascular diseases such as stroke and heart attack. (kannel, 2004). The environmental factors that contribute to the development of hypertension include smoking, alcohol consumption, salt intake and inactivity.

## Polymorphisms of Renin Angiotensin-Aldosterone System

Renin Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS) is familiarly involved in the regulation of blood pressure; a genetic variability in the degree of expression of one of its enzymes may account for variability in the blood pressure or may play a role in elevated high blood pressure. The genes coding for each protein involved in the RAAS have been identified and studied for any relation with hypertension and other cardiovascular disorders (Malik *et al.*, 1997). Genetic polymorphisms involved in RAAS genes susceptibility to hypertension and T2DM have been intensively scrutinised by linkage and association studies in various populations. Insertion/ Deletion polymorphism of angiotensin-1 converting enzyme (ACE) gene, M235T, T174M, A20C and A6G variants in angiotensinogen (AGT) gene, *BglI, MboI* dimorphism in Renin (REN) gene, A1166C polymorphism of angiotensin II type1 receptor (AT1R), T344C, Lys173Arg variant in aldosterone synthase (CYP11B2) and the Gly460Trp polymorphism of adducin (ADD) gene have been implicated in the pathogenesis of hypertension, renal and cardiovascular complications of diabetes (Fabris *et al.*, 2005). Genetic variants of RAAS genes are well studied in various populations with conflicting results.

# Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Gene Polymorphism

Angiotensin Converting Enzyme gene is a major component in RAAS which has been determined as a candidate gene for the development of EHT (Agachan *et al.*, 2003). The Framingham Heart Study found strong evidence for a QTL on chromosome 17, located close to the ACE gene and linked to blood pressure (Levy *et al.*, 2000). The ACE gene encodes somatic and germinal isoenzymes. The somatic ACE isoenzyme is expressed in many tissues including vascular endothelial cells, renal epithelial cells and testicular leidig cells, whereas the testicular or germinal ACE isoenzyme is expressed only in sperm. Tissue-bound ACE is essential for the control of BP and the structure and function of the kidneys (Lele *et al.*, 2003).

The ACE polymorphisms appear to have a significant impact on the progression of Hypertension and Diabetes (Figure 6). The ACE (dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase) is a zinc metallopeptidase, which catalyses the conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II, a potent

vasoconstrictor and through protease activity it also inactivates bradykinin, a potent vasodilator (Erdos and Skidgel, 1987). ACE gene has been mapped to chromosome17q23 and encoded by a 21 Kb gene that consists of 26 exons and 25 introns (Mattei, *et al.*, 1989).



Figure 6 Schematic diagram showing the biallelic polymorphisms numbered in base pairs relative to the start of the transcription sites between the exons 1-26 of ACE gene (Adapted from Keavney *et al.*, 1998).

# **Insertion/ Deletion Polymorphism of ACE Gene**

Insertion/Deletion (I/D) polymorphism of a 287 bp Alu repeat sequence in intron 16 of ACE gene is strongly associated with plasma and cellular ACE levels (Rigat *et al.*, 1990) and it indicates that, the polymorphism may modulate the expression of ACE gene (Suehiro *et al.*, 2004). Plasma ACE levels are affected mainly by this polymorphism and subjects that are homozygous for the deletion (DD), heterozygous (I/D) and those that are homozygous for the insertion (I/I) have the highest, intermediate and lowest ACE plasma levels, respectively (Rigat *et al.*, 1990).

A relationship between the D-allele dose and enzymatic levels is established for both circulating and cellular ACE (Tiret *et al.*, 1992). The DD genotypes and D alleles of ACE gene have been reported in various populations in which it has a strong association with increased risk of hypertension (Zee *et al.*, 1992) diabetes and its complications (Marre *et al.*, 1994) compared to II genotypes and I allele of ACE gene. However, some studies have failed to show the association of D allele (Chiang *et al.*, 1997) and diabetes (Daimon *et al.*, 2003). A strong association of I allele of ACE gene is found in Australian population with familial hypertension (Zee *et al.*, 1992). The conflicting results of I/D polymorphism of ACE gene in hypertension and other diseases might be due to different ethnic groups and genders (Barley *et al.*, 1994).

## Angiotensinogen Gene Polymorphisms

Angiotensinogen (AGT) is the precursor of angiotensin II, a polypeptide primarily produced by the liver which acts as a physiologically important regulator of blood pressure, exerting physiologic effects on the sodium homoeostasis, as well as a growth factor of cardiac myocytes. Gaillard *et al*, (1989) found that the human angiotensinogen gene contains 5 exons (Figure 7). In 1992, Jeunemaitre *et al*, reported significant evidence for linkage and association of the (AGT) gene to hypertension.

The AGT polymorphisms might not only be associated with plasma concentrations of AGT, but might also increase the eventual risk of developing hypertension. Several lines of evidence have supported the etiological link between AGT and hypertension; for example, in transgenic mice, the increasing number of AGT alleles was shown to be correlated with blood pressure elevation (Kim *et al.*, 1995). An angiotensinogen M235T polymorphism has been found to be associated with high plasma AGT levels in subjects that are homozygous for the T variant and hence associated with hypertension in European and Asian populations (Danser *et al.*, 1998)
The TT or allele T of the M235T variant of the AGT is significantly associated with EHT in which it is a possible genetic marker or risk factor for hypertension in Malaysian subjects (Say et al., 2005). Rather than focusing on the M235T polymorphism in Malaysian population and to surpass the limitation of previous association studies, it looks for other susceptible polymorphism of the AGT gene for EHT and T2DM. The promoter polymorphisms A6G and A20C, which may play regulatory roles in the AGT gene expression, are suggested to be located in the same haplotype block with the M235T polymorphism (Hilgers, et al., 2001). Inoue et al., 1997 revealed that the elevation of plasma angiotensinogen is not due to the M235T substitution itself but a linked A for G substitution at position -6 in the core promoter of the AGT gene. The A6G polymorphism affects the basal rate of AGT transcription with the -6A variant causing an increase in transcription and elevated plasma angiotensinogen levels is associated with hypertension (Hunt et al., 1998).



**Figure 7** Schematic diagram of the human Angiotensinogen gene and location of identified variants. The positions of the variants in the 5' region are numbered by reference to the transcription-initiation site as defined by Gaillard *et al*, (1989).

A6G, a common variant in the proximal promoter of the ATG gene, an adenine instead of a guanine 6 bp upstream from the site of transcription initiation, is in very tight linkage disequilibrium with

T235 and marks the original form of the gene. These observations suggested a biologic mechanism by which individual differences in the AGT gene may predispose carriers to the development of EHT In addition, C for A substitution at position 20 polymorphism of the angiotensinogen gene core promoter that may cause altered gene transcription have been described: and elevated plasma angiotensinogen leads to increased angiotensinogen transcription in vitro. Evidence has been provided that this polymorphism affects transcription factor binding and the gene transcription rate (Zhao et al., 1999). The -20 C allele is associated with hypertension and elevated plasma angiotensinogen in a Japanese population (Ishigami et al., 1997). An adenine-to-cytosine transition at nucleotide -20 of the 5' upstream core promoter region of the human AGT gene (A-20C) mutation transcribes a reporter gene at a greater level than the wild type (A-20A). Therefore, the A-20C mutation may also affect the transcription activity of AGT mRNA in humans and thereby alter the plasma AGT level (Ishigami et al., 1997). Aldosterone Gene Polymorphism

# Aldosterone Synthase Gene Polymorphism

Aldosterone controls sodium balance and intravascular volume and plays an important role in regulating the blood pressure (White, 1994). Aldosterone is synthesized from deoxycorticosterone in the zona golmerulosa of adrenal cortex by a mitochondrial cytochrome P450 enzyme, aldosterone synthase (CYP11B2) (Curnow *et al.*, 1991). The CYP11B2 gene encoding aldosterone synthase is mapped to chromosome 8q24.3 which is adjacent to a closely related gene that encodes steroid 11b-hydroxylase (CYP11B1), an enzyme required for cortisol biosynthesis (Mornet *et al.*, 1989).

Conversely, an inherited form of hypertension, glucocorticoidsuppressible hyperaldosteronism, is caused by genetic recombination

between the CYP11B1 and CYP11B2 that increase expression of the CYP11B2 and lead to inappropriate secretion of aldosterone (Lifton *et al.*, 1992). Therefore, it is plausible that polymorphisms in CYP11B2 might affect aldosterone biosynthesis and thus perhaps influence hypertension.

Mutations in the CYP11B2 lead to various forms of aldosterone deficiency, characterised by salt wasting and hypotension (Mitsuuchi *et al.*, 1993) suggesting that abnormalities in CYP11B2 can lead to important changes to arterial pressure and could be responsible for hypertension. White and Slutsker, (1995) determined the haplotypes in CYP11B2 has strongly associated with hypertension or plasma aldosterone concentrations.

Davies, *et al*, (1999) have indicated the role of the T344C polymorphisms in aldosterone synthase gene in hypertension. But studies in Japanese and German populations showed the negative association of the T344C polymorphisms in association with hypertension (Kato *et al.*, 2002). However, it is impossible to conclude which polymorphism is responsible for high blood pressure or high aldosterone secretion. On the other hand, Fardella *et al*, 1996 indicated that Arg173 alleles are found higher in hypertensive than the normotensive group. They also found amino acid polymorphism showing Lys173 rather than Arg173 in CYP11B2 among a large number of Chilean patients with low-renin hypertension. The decreased frequencies of Arg173 and 2344C variants in the CYP11B2 gene are genetically linked to low-renin hypertension in the Japanese population.

## Adducin Gene Polymorphism

Adducin, the rate-limiting factor in RAAS, plays a crucial role in the regulation of blood pressure. Adducin is a heteromeric cytoskeleton protein composed of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -subunits. Variation in the  $\alpha$ -adducin

(ADD1) protein may affect ion transport through modification of actin cytoskeleton assembly and modulation of sodium pump activity (Staessen and Bianchi, 2005). Transport of sodium by the renal proximal tubule determines whole-body volume and fluid homeostasis and blood pressure and it has been suggested that defects in transport mechanisms may be the cause of hypertension (Woolfson *et al.*, 1996).

Studies using Millan hypertensive and normotesnive strains of rats suggested that genetic alterations in tubular reabsorption may be a cause of hypertension (Bianchi *et al.*, 1994). A case-control study in Milan of 190 white hypertensive patients using several microsatellite markers on chromosome 4 found a significant association with hypertension for one located closest (20 kb) to the  $\alpha$ -adducin gene (Casari *et al.*, 1995). Cusi *et al.*, (1997) found a significant association between a Gly460Trp polymorphism (G460W) in the ADD1 gene and salt sensitivity in patients with EHT. Several studies have suggested that the association or linkage of G- to-T substitution polymorphism of amino acid residue 460 at nucleotide position 614 of exon 10 of the  $\alpha$ -Adducin gene in EHT with controversial results in different populations.

In Italian, French and Japanese population studies of the Gly460Trp polymorphism, a significant association of the mutated allele (Trp) with hypertension is shown (Castellano *et al.*, 1998). All these data strongly supported the notion that Adducin polymorphism is associated to high blood pressure. Follow-up studies of different populations do not replicate the initial report whereby no association is found between the Gly460Trp allele and hypertension in Chinese (He *et al.*, 2001), Scottish (Clark *et al.*, 2000) or Japanese population (Ranade *et al.*, 2000).

## Adrenoceptors

All adrenergic receptors have seven membrane-spanning domain, extra cellular amino terminal and intra cellular carboxy terminals. They are also linked to guanine-nucleotide- binding proteins (G proteins) which are composed of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunits (Garland & Biaggioni, 2001). The  $\alpha$ -adrenoceptors mediate smooth muscle contraction, vasoconstriction, ejaculation and sodium excretion. The  $\beta$ -adrenoceptors mediate smooth muscle relaxation, vasodilatation, bronchial relaxation and lipolysis.

Sympathetic nervous system plays an important role in the regulation of blood pressure and energy expenditure via coupling of catecholamine with adrenoceptors. (Masuo, 2010)

# **Polymorphisms of** β2-adrenoceptor

The  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor has been well studied. Nine single nucleotide polymorphisms are found in the coding region of the DNA sequence. Four of these result in amino acid change: the glycine for arginine substitution at codon 16 (Arg16Gly), the glutamic acid for glutamine substitution at codon 27 (Gln27Glu), the threonine for isoleusine substitution at codon 34 (Val34Met). All these polymorphisms encode the receptor with functional differences except the Val34Met polymorphism. (Garland and Biaggioni, 2001). The most common polymorphisms are Arg16Gly with an allele frequency of 0.4/0.6 and Gln27Glu with an allele frequency of 0.55/0.45 in the Caucasian population. The Thre164Ile polymorphism is rare occurring in only 3 to 5 % of the general population. (Masuo, 2010).

Beside the polymorphisms of the  $\beta 2$  adrenergic receptor in the coding region, there is also another polymorphism in the 5' leader

citron of the receptor resulting in an arginine or cysteine of amino acid 19. This polymorphism with a frequency of approximately 0.47 in whites, it can affect receptor expression. (Garland and Biaggioni, 2001). Other studies showed that Gly16 receptors have greater reduction in number or enhanced down-regulation compared with Arg16 (wild type). On the other hand, Glu27 receptor is resistant to down-regulation when compared with Gln27 (wild type).

The finding of the polymorphisms in the  $\beta$ 2adrenergic receptor allows the researchers to correlate the polymorphism with diseases that involve of  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor activity such as hypertension. Studies have shown that the Gly16 homozygous subjects had higher mean blood pressure than Arg16 homozygous. They also found that Arg16 is associated with greater vasodilator response to  $\beta$ 2 agonist salbutamal compared with the Gly16 allele. (Garland and Biaggioni, 2001).

Other studies with similar findings demonstrated that young normotensive white men homozygous for the Gly16 allele have higher blood pressure and lower peripheral vasodilatation after the administration of  $\beta 2$  agonist salbutamal (Masuo, 2010).

Another longitudinal study done by Masuo *et al.*,, showed that Gly16 allele is related greater weight and blood pressure elevation over 5 years period. In this study 160 young, nonobese nomotensive individuals were recruited. Change in blood pressure, body weight, plasma noepinephrine and  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor polymorphisms were measured over a period of 5 years. The result showed increase in body weight, blood pressure in Gly16 allele carriers. Subjects with Glu27 allele have higher blood pressure.

From the results obtained in these studies, it can be said that the functional molecular variations of  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor might cause attenuated vasodilatation leading to increase in total peripheral resistance and consequently resulting in hypertension. (Kato *et al.*, 2002)

Patimah Ismai	1
---------------	---

## **Polymorphisms of** β3-adrenoceptor

The  $\beta$ 3 adrenergic receptor is mainly located in adipose tissue and it is involved in the regulation of lipolysis and thermogenesis. Due to the role of the receptor in the lipolysis, studies have been extensively done to correlate the receptor variant and obesity. A polymorphism in causing the substitution arginine for tryptophan at codon 64 (Try64Arg) has been well studied. This polymorphism has been shown to lower receptor affinity for catecholamine and decrease receptor function. (Masuo, 2010). This slow lypolysis may lead to visceral obesity and obesity related diseases such as hypertension and diabetes mellitus. Other epidemiological studies have shown strong association between  $\beta$ 3 adrenergic receptor polymorphism (Try64Arg), hypertension, metabolic syndrome and obesity. (Masuo, 2010)

# Alpha-Adrenorecptor Gene Polymorphism

Catecholamines play an important role in the regulation of blood pressure and metabolism in humans (Gavras *et al.*, 2001). There are three known  $\alpha$ 2-adrenoceptor subtypes,  $\alpha$ 2A,  $\alpha$ 2B, and  $\alpha$ 2C, which are encoded by distinct genes at different chromosomes. Knockout animal studies have suggested that sympathetic outflow from the central nervous system is inhibited by stimulation of the  $\alpha$ 2A-adrenergic receptor, thus mediating a hypotensive effect, whereas stimulation of the  $\alpha$ 2B -adrenergic receptor mediates a hypertensive effect by opposing the sympatho-inhibitory action of the  $\alpha$ 2A-adrenergic receptor in the central nervous system. The  $\alpha$ 2C-adrenergic receptor does not seem to mediate any effect in blood pressure regulation (Gavras *et al.*, 2001).

A polymorphism in the non-coding region of the  $\alpha$ 2Aadrenoceptor gene has been reported to be associated with saltsensitive hypertension in an African-American population (Lockette *et al.*, 1995). But a common variant (12Glu9) of the human  $\alpha$ 2B-adrenergic gene encodes a receptor protein leading to the deletion/ insertion of three consecutive glutamate residues at amino acid positions 301 to 303 has been associated with EHT (Wowern *et al.*,2004) and acute coronary events (Snapir *et al.*,2001). Several studies suggested that I/D polymorphism of  $\alpha$ 2B-adrenergic receptor gene control the sympathetic nervous system activity and possibility to develop EHT (Wowern *et al.*, 2004).

In a population-based, prospective study on 912 middle- aged men, the DD genotype is associated with an increased incidence of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) in comparison to the other two genotypes (Snapir *et al.*,2003). Several reports in Caucasians revealed the association of various cardiovascular and metabolic phenotypes with I/D polymorphism of  $\alpha$ 2B-adrenergic receptor gene (Heinonen *et al.*, 1999). However some reports do not support a role for I/D polymorphism of  $\alpha$ 2B-adrenergic receptor gene in late complications in type 1 diabetic patients (Heinonen *et al.*, 2005) and EHT (Snapir *et al.*, 2001).

# CANDIDATE GENES FOR CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE

# Homocysteine Metabolism Enzyme Gene Polymorphisms and Congenital Heart Disease

Congenital heart disease (CHD) is known as a serious birth defect where there is an abnormal development of the structure and function of the heart that are present at birth. It is among the most common human congenital defects occurring in 6-8 out of 1000 live births (Hoffman *et al.*, 2002). There are many factors causing the CHD etiology whereas both genetic and environmental factors also play an important role in the etiology, but the specific

cause still remains unclear (Song *et al.*, 2006). Homocysteine is a naturally occurring amino acid that is present in the humans. It is involved in the metabolism of the essential amino acid methionine which is a product used in transmethylation reactions that utilise S-adenosylmethonine (AdoMet) as a methyl donor. After being formed, homocysteine can be catabolised to amino acid cysteine or it can be used to regenerate AdoMet (Kluijtmans *et al.*, 2003).

Hyperhomocysteinemia is an elevated level of homocysteine in the blood and some of the factors that cause this could be due to genetic disorders, vitamin B12 and vitamin B6 deficiency, folic acid deficiency, renal failure, increasing age, hypothyroidism and smoking (Pereira *et al.*, 2005). This condition has also been associated with the development of CHD and many genetic association studies have been done to investigate this association.

A few types of CHD are induced by single gene mutation and chromosome aberration but most of CHDs are polygenic diseases caused by both genetic and environmental factors (Zhu *et al.*, 2004). The common enzymes involved in homocysteine or folate metabolism are the Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase (MTHFR), Methionine Synthase (MTRR), Methionine Synthase Reductase (MTR) and Cystathionine-b-synthase (CBS) enzymes. Deficiencies or polymorphism in any of these enzymes are suspected to lead to an inborn error in the metabolism of homocysteine and also causing homocystinuria (Michael *et al.*, 2000). There is evidence that this deficiency could alter the susceptibility to CHD (Garcia-Fragoso *et al.*, 2010).

Various studies have been done in various populations on the association of these enzyme gene polymorphisms and development of CHD but with conflicting results. This may be due to the differences between ethnic or geographic populations. Population stratification which is the separation of a study population into subgroups may also occur if the case and control populations are not well matched for ethnicity or geographic origin.

For the MTHFR enzyme, it is one of the main regulatory enzymes of the homocysteine metabolic pathway and it involves the two most common gene polymorphism which are the C677T and the A1298C (Frosst *et al.*, 1995). These polymorphisms may result in decreased enzyme activity and causes increased level of homocysteine in individuals especially those with low folate status (Castro *et al.*, 2003). A study done in Germany by Junker *et al*, 2001 was the first study that showed an association between C677T gene polymorphism and the development of CHD. Other studies done for the MTHFR gene polymorphism can also be found in Puerto Rico and India (Elavazhagan *et al*, 2009, Garcia-Fragoso *et al.*, 2010).

A study done in Beijing, China showed a nuclear family study on the association of the MTR enzyme of the A2756G gene polymorphism and CHD. They have found that mothers having the polymorphism may have an increase risk of having a child born with CHD (Zhu *et al.*, 2004). For the MTRR A66G enzyme gene polymorphism, a study done in The Netherlands investigated the relation between this polymorphism and CHD risk (Van Beynum *et al.*, 2006).

Michael *et al*, 2006 reported a high prevalence of the 844ins68 gene polymorphism of the CBS enzyme. Since CBS enzyme is also involve in the homocysteine metabolic pathway, researchers suggested that it may also be related to development or risk of CHD. Various studies have also been done to investigate this relationship. For example a study done by Zhu *et al.*,2008 found an association between the CBS gene variation and serum homocysteine level associated with CHD and a Chinese nuclear family study by Song *et al.*,2006 showed that there is also a relationship between the CBS polymorphism and CHD.

A genetic association analysis involving a study of the SNPs genotype frequency in a group of cases and controls could be used to examine the statistical correlation between a person's genotype with his phenotype or disease. So, by this, the genetic polymorphisms of the homocysteine metabolism genes can provide a basic for studying the relationship between genetic variants and the development or progression of CHD.

## **Cardiac Transcription Factors Gene Polymorphism**

Members of cardiac transcription factors genes family codes for proteins (transcription factors) that regulate the expression of genes responsible for embryonic cardiac development which include the formation of the heart chambers (atria and ventricles), valves and the conducting system. Because of this critical role, mutations within these genes will affect the gene expression which in turn will contribute to the pathogenesis of the malformed heart (Clark *et al.,* 2006). Among the transcription factors gene family there is four genes: GATA4, TBX5, TBX20 and NKX2-5 that had been implicated more in the cause of CHD.

# **GATA4 Gene Polymorphism**

GATA4 gene is a one of the transcription factors genes that localised at chromosome 8p23.1-p22. The gene consists of 7 exons and contains two zinc finger domains that are highly conserved in mammals. It expresses in the heart during embryogenesis and plays a major role in the process of the heart development (Clark *et al.*,2006). The GAtA4 gene regulates the expression of MYH6 gene which play an important function in the development of the cardiac atria (Molkentin and Kalvakolanu 1994). It has 2 zinc finger domains: C-terminal and N-terminal domains, the C-terminal domain encoded by exon 2, mediates DNA binding and interaction with other proteins including Nkx2-5 and TBX5 (other transcription factors)while the N-terminal domain encoded by exon 3, help in stabilising the binding to DNA and interacting with a subclass of zinc finger protein multi-type (ZFPM) previously named friend of GATA4 (FOG) ( Clark *et al.*,2006).

# **TBX20** Gene Polymorphism

TBX20 is an ancient member of the Tbox superfamily related to TBX1,located on chromosome 7p15-p14, it contains 6 exons and its 22 kb size, code for 297-amino acid protein (Meins *et al.*,2000)and interact with GATA4,GATA5, TBX5 and NKX2-5 genes (Stennard *et al.*,2003).

The first report of the association between TBX20 and CHD done by (Kirk *et al.*,2007) by screen the coding region of TBX20 by direct sequencing in 352 patients with different forms of CHD and 11% of those patients have a family history of CHD, two unique mutations are reported missense I152M (456C>G) and nonsense Q195X (583C>T) mutations within the T-box DNA-binding domain TBX20 in two Caucasian families with history of various forms of CHD (septation defects, valve abnormalities (mitral valve stenosis and prolapse) in addition to cardiomyopathy. Analysis of these mutated protein showed direct effects of this mutation on the protein structure, its thermal stability, and DNA binding.

A study conducted by (Liu *et al.*,2008) to determine the TBX20 mutations in Han Chinese population and whether there is an association of these mutations with CHD, involved 203 patients with various forms of CHD (62 of them are TOF patients) and 300 control were also involved in this study in which only 6 patients had family history of CHD, the exons 2-6 which coded

for T-box domain and their flanking introns were sequenced after PCR amplification. Three non-synonymous sequence alternation (A63T, I121F, and T262M) were identified in 3 patients (two ASD patients one of them had an additional Total anomalous pulmonary venous connection and one TOF patient) which were not seen in 300 controls, I121F and T262M mutations occurred within the highly conserved T-box DNA-binding domain and the change in the amino acid was expected to affect protein function according to SIFT program (Sorting Intolerant From Tolerant), in addition to two synonymous sequence variants(c.666C>T and c.786G>C) detected only in two patients and not detected in the control and eight SNPs detected both on the patients and controls but the difference in the allele frequency between the patients and controls was statistically insignificant, four of them reported for the first time (S167S, P177P, A181A, and I219I) and the other four were known SNPs in dbSNP (c.766T>C as rs3999941, c.808C>T as rs3864455, c.859C>T as rs2723753 and c.883A>C as rs2723754). The frequency of TBX20 mutations in the CHD patients was about 1.5% and in TOF patients was about 1.6% (one of 62) so TBx20 mutations in Chinese population were low and contributed to ASD, TOF and Total anomalous pulmonary venous connection (Liu et al.,2008)

## Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Gene Polymorphism

Nitric oxide, which plays important role in the regulation of cell growth and apoptosis, is produced by the enzyme Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) Common 894G>T in the gene code for eNOS associated with birth defects such as spina bifida, and its association with CHD have been investigated both in the affected children and their mothers, an association of the sum of the eNOS

894 GT and TT genotypes versus GG genotypes in the children is associated with increased CHD risk, while in the mothers the sum of eNOS 894 GT or TT genotypes versus GG genotypes is not associated with increased CHD risk (Van Beynum *et al.*,2008).

# TECHNIQUE TO DETECT SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISM

# PCR- Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (PCR-RFLP)

A variation in the DNA sequence result either in polymorphism or mutation which leads to chances of causing different diseases. Some of these polymorphisms that occur with a high frequency within the population can be a useful tool for gene tracking for a given disease. Such investigations have initially been done by Southern blot techniques, but now it has been replaced by PCR based methodology. By using restriction enzyme analysis or Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms (RFLPs), the nucleotide substitutions can be identified (Figure 8). Currently, SNP typing is becoming more and more popular in genetic research and some typing methods have been developed with many other methods, such as Taqman assay, the ligase detection reaction and D-HPLC (Kirk et al., 2002), developed in recent years but still RFLP-PCR is relatively simple and economical (Haliassos et al., 1989). A restriction fragment length polymorphism is defined by the existence of alternative alleles associated with restriction fragments that differ in size from each other. The basic principle of RFLP is the DNA restriction enzymes recognise specific sequences in DNA and catalyse endonucleolytic cleavages, yielding fragments of defined lengths. Differences among individuals in the lengths of a particular restriction fragment may be displayed by electrophoresis in agarose

gels, separating the fragments according to their molecular size. The results from many kinds of genotypic differences shows one or more individual bases could differ, resulting in loss of a cleavage site or formation of a new one; alternatively, insertion or deletion of blocks of DNA within a fragment could alter its size. These genotypic changes can be recognised by the altered mobility of restriction fragments on agarose gel electrophoresis (Botstein *et al.*, 1980).





RFLPs were first used as a tool for genetic analysis in 1974. Linkage of temperature-sensitive mutations of adenovirus to specific restriction fragment length differences was used to locate the mutations on a physical map of the restriction fragments (Grodzicker *et al.*, 1974). Although RFLP is a useful technique in finding out the known mutations, it has got several limitations,

including the fact that the flanking regions of most SNP loci do not have appropriate restriction endonuclease recognizing site for typing and cannot able to detect the unknown mutations. The main advantage of this approach is that it does not require the use of radioactive isotopes and it is more acquiescent to analyses in clinical settings.

## **Restriction Enzymes**

Restriction endonucleases (REs) are present in bacteria presumably to destroy DNA from foreign sources (e.g., infecting bacteriophage) by cleaving the foreign DNA at specific restriction sites The host bacteria DNA is protected from cleavage because specific recognition sites are modified, usually by methylation at one of the bases in the site, making the site no longer a substrate for RE cleavage. Host bacteria used to propagate cloned DNA in the laboratory are usually mutant in the host restriction genes; thus their intracellular enzyme activities will not destroy the foreign recombinant sequences. The cleavage site specifities for many REs have been defined. They cut DNA within or near to their particular recognition sequences, which typically are four to six nucleotides in length with a twofold axis of symmetry. These ends are complementary ("sticky") and can be enzymatically reattached to any other EcoRI generated termini using T4 DNA ligase. Many restriction enzymes, like EcoRI, generate fragments with protruding 5' tails; others (e.g., PstI) generate fragments with 3' protruding, cohesive termini, whereas still others (e.g., BalI) cleave at the axis of symmetry to produce blunt-ended fragments. Each restriction endonuclease has a specific sequence and number of nucleotides required to create the recognition site. Some REs do not require a specific nucleotide in every position of the recognition site.

These enzymes allow cloning and purification as well as for RFLP technique. REs are typically isolated from a variety of bacterial strains and available commercially (Roberts, 1982).

## **Agarose Gel Electrophoresis**

Electrophoresis is a technique used to separate and sometimes purify macromolecules - especially proteins and nucleic acids - that differ in size, charge or conformation. Amplified PCR products, restriction fragments and other products can be identified or separated by using the standard method through agarose gel electrophoresis. Molecules in a mixture can be separated according to size by electrophoresis, a technique dependent on the fact that dissolved molecules in an electric field move at a speed determined by their charge-mass ratio. The basic principle behind in this technique is the nucleic acids in solution generally have a negative charge because of the presence of phosphate groups are ionized; thus they migrate toward a positive electrode. Molecules separated into the electrophoresis in an agarose gel move through the pores, the longer length nucleic acids moves slowly compared to the shorter length sequences. Agarose gel electrophoresis technique is simple, rapid to perform, and capable of resolving mixtures of DNA fragment that cannot be separated adequately by other sizing procedures (Sambrook, 2001). Agarose, which is extracted from seaweed, is a linear polymer is commercially available in the market. Agarose is usually contaminated with other polysaccharides, salts, and proteins which can affect both the migration of the DNA and the ability of the DNA recovered from the gel to serve as a substrate to enzymatic reactions. Agarose gels are cast by melting the agarose in the presence of the desired buffer until a clear, transparent solution is achieved. The melted solution is then poured into a mold and allowed to harden. Upon hardening, the agarose forms a matrix, the density of which is determined by

its concentration. When an electric field is applied across the gel, DNA, which is negatively charged at neutral pH, migrates toward the anode. Furthermore, the location of DNA within the gel can be determined directly by staining the gel with the intercalating dye ethidium bromide and can be detected by direct examination of the gel in ultraviolet light (Sharp *et al.*, 1973).

# GENETIC POLYMORPHIC STUDIES IN MALAYSIA-RESEARCH PAPERS FROM GENETIC RESEARCH GROUP

# Hypertension and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

## Analysis of renin-angiotensin aldosterone system gene polymorphisms in Malaysian essential hypertensive and type 2 diabetic subjects

Vasudevan Ramachandran, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas and Norashikin Shamsudin Cardiovascular Diabetology 2009, 8:11

The renin-angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) plays an important role in regulating the blood pressure and the genetic polymorphisms of RAAS genes has been extensively studied in relation to the cardiovascular diseases in various populations with conflicting results. The aim of this study was to determine the association of five genetic polymorphisms (A6G and A20C of angiotensinogen (AGT), *MboI* of renin, Gly460Trp of aldosterone synthase and Lys173Arg of adducin) of RAAS genes in Malaysian essential hypertensive and type 2 diabetic subjects. RAAS gene polymorphisms were determined using mutagenically separated PCR and PCR-RFLP method in a total of 270 subjects consisting of 70 hypertensive subjects without type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), 60 T2DM, 65 hypertensive subjects with T2DM and 75 control subjects. There was significant difference found in age,

body mass index, systolic/diastolic blood pressure, fasting plasma glucose and high density lipoprotein cholesterol levels between the hypertensive subjects with or without T2DM and control subjects. No statistically significant differences between groups were found in the allele frequency and genotype distribution for A20C variant of AGT gene, *MboI* of renin, Gly460Trp of aldosterone and Lys173Arg of adducin (p > 0.05). However, the results for A6G of AGT gene revealed significant differences in allele and genotype frequencies in essential hypertension with or without T2DM (p < 0.001). Among the five polymorphisms of RAAS genes only A6G variant of AGT gene was significantly associated in Malaysian essential hypertensive and type 2 diabetic subjects. Therefore, A6G polymorphism of the AGT gene could be a potential genetic marker for increased susceptibility to essential hypertension with or without T2DMin Malaysian subjects

## Association of insertion/deletion polymorphism of angiotensin-converting enzyme gene with essential hypertension and type 2 diabetes mellitus in Malaysian subjects

Vasudevan Ramachandran, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin, Saidi Moin, Rusni Mohd Jas J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst 2008; 9; 208

The deletion (D) allele of the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) gene has been studied in various populations in relation to hypertension (HTN) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) with contradictory results. This study sought to determine the association of insertion (I)/D polymorphism of the ACE gene in hypertensive and T2DM subjects in a Malaysian population. A total of 260 subjects consisting of 65 HTN, 60 T2DM, 65 T2DM with HTN and 70 controls were recruited. Genotyping was performed by

polymerase chain reaction initially and mistyping of DD genotypes was performed with an insertion-specific primer. The frequency for II, ID and DD genotypes of the ACE gene was 36.92%, 52.31% and 10.77% in HTN, 40.00%, 41.67% and 18.33% in T2DM, 30.77%, 53.85% and 15.38% in T2DM with HTN and 57.14%, 40.00% and 2.86% in controls, respectively. The frequency for the D allele was 36.92% in HTN, 39.17% in T2DM and 42.31% in T2DM with HTN compared to 22.86% in controls. The genotype and allele frequency of the ACE gene polymorphism differed significantly in patients when compared to controls (p < 0.05). The D allele of the ACE gene is associated with essential HTN and T2DM in Malaysian subjects.

# Association of Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism of Alpha-Adrenoceptor Gene in Essential Hypertension with or without Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Malaysian Subjects

R. Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin, Aisyah binti Ali

Int. J. Biol. Sci. 2008, 4

An insertion/deletion (I/D) polymorphism of Alpha2B-Adrenoceptor (ADRA2B) gene located on chromosome 2 has been studied extensively in related to cardiovascular diseases. The main aim of the present study was to examine the potential association of D allele frequency of I/D polymorphism of ADRA2B gene in Malaysian essential hypertensive subjects with or without type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). This study included 70 hypertensive subjects with T2DM and 75 healthy volunteers as control subjects. Genotyping of I/D polymorphism was performed by conventional PCR method. There was significant difference found in age, body mass index, systolic/diastolic blood pressure and high density lipoprotein cholesterol level between the case and control subjects. DD genotypic frequency of I/D

polymorphism was significantly higher in hypertensive subjects (42.84% vs. 29.33%; P=0.029) and in hypertensive with T2DM subjects (46.15% vs. 29.33%; P=0.046) than control group. D allele frequency was higher in hypertensive group (67.41%) than control subjects (52.67%). However, no significant difference was found between the three genotypes of I/D polymorphism of ADRA2B gene and the clinical characteristics of the subjects. The result obtained in this study showed that D allele of ADRA2B gene was associated with essential hypertension with or without T2DM in Malaysian subjects.

## Analysis of three genetic polymorphisms in Malaysian essential hypertensive and type 2 diabetic subjects

R. Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail1, Johnson Stanslas and Norashikin Shamsudin African Journal of Biotechnology Vol. 8 (10), pp. 2069-2075, 18 May, 2009

Genetic polymorphisms are associated with an increase in the risk of developing disease and they are integral to the development of genetic marker to identify the individuals at risk. The genotypic distribution of various genetic polymorphisms involved in essential hypertension (EHT) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in Malaysian subjects has not been well characterised. The main objective of this study is to determine the association of S477X polymorphism of LPL gene, A6244G polymorphism of IRS-1 gene and C825T polymorphism of GNB3 gene with EHT and T2DM in Malaysian subjects. This study included 70 EHT, 60 T2DM, 65 EHT with T2DM and 75 control subjects. Genotyping of all the three polymorphisms was performed by PCR-RFLP method with the respective primers and restriction enzymes. The genotypic and allelic frequencies of the respective polymorphisms of the genes did not differ significantly (p>0.05) with EHT and T2DM in Malaysian subjects. The results of this study suggested that, S477X genotypes of LPL gene, A6244G genotypes of IRS-1 gene and C825T genotypes of GNB3 gene was not associated with EHT and T2DM in Malaysian subjects.

## **End Stage Renal Disease**

## Analysis of insertion/deletion polymorphisms of the angiotensin converting enzyme gene in Malaysian end-stage renal disease patients

Aisyah Ali, Ramachandran Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Christoper Lim Thiam Seong and Srikumar Chakravarthi

Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System Vol. 12, Issue 3, Sept 2011 pp 224-230

Insertion/deletion (I/D) polymorphisms found in the angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) gene have been associated with hypertension, diabetes and renal disease. The present study sought to determine the association of I/D polymorphisms of the ACE gene with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients in Malaysia. A total of 380 subjects were recruited to determine the genotypes of I/D polymorphisms of the ACE gene. Genotyping was performed using a PCR method. Statistical analyses were carried out using statistical software, and a level of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The frequencies for II, ID and DD genotypes of the ACE gene were 24.7%, 65.80% and 9.47%, respectively, in ESRD patients, and in control subjects were 45.26%, 47.37% and 7.37% respectively. The frequency for the D allele was found to be higher (42.40%) in ESRD patients compared to control subjects (31.05%). The genotypic and allelic frequencies of I/D polymorphisms of the ACE gene differed significantly (p < 0.05) between ESRD patients and control subjects in the Malaysian population. The findings of

this study indicated that I/D polymorphisms of the ACE gene are a useful marker and are likely to play a major role in determining genetic susceptibility to ESRD in the Malaysian population.

## Association of variable number of tandem repeats polymorphism in the IL-4 gene with end-stage renal disease in Malaysian patients

R. Vasudevan, M.N. Norhasniza and I. Patimah Genet. Mol. Res. 10 (2): 943-947 (2011)

Variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) polymorphism in the interleukin 4 (IL-4) genes has been associated with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) subjects in many different populations, although with conflicting results. We determined the 70 bp of VNTR polymorphism at intron 3 of the IL-4 gene in Malaysian ESRD subjects. Buccal cells were collected from 160 case and 160 control subjects; genomic DNA was amplified using PCR, followed by agarose gel electrophoresis. There were significant differences in genotypes and alleles of the IL-4 gene. We concluded that VNTR polymorphism of the IL-4 gene is a risk factor for the development of ESRD among Malaysians.

Malaysia is a multi racial country consisting of Malays, Chinese, Indians and the indigenous people of Sabah and Sarawak. Malays and other indigenous are found to have a higher prevalence of hypertension compared to the Chinese and Indians, but the Indians have more prevalence in T2DM compared to Malays and Chinese whereby the difference is not significant among the different ethnic groups (Lim *et al.*, 2004). Based on the candidate gene approach, many case-control and the cross-sectional studies have been done in Malaysia in predisposition to various diseases. Say *et al.*, 2004 showed a significant difference between the M235T variant of angiotensinogen gene and hypertension. But the same variant in a recent study showed a lack of association in Malay hypertensive subjects (Ghazali *et. al.*, 2008). This proves that, the genetic variation differs within the same ethnic or different groups due to various environmental factors (Persu *et al.*, 2006).

A cross-sectional comparative study showed no association in A1166C polymorphism of angiotensin II type I receptor gene with BP and aortic pulse wave velocity among the Malays (Rehman *et al.,* 2007). A possible involvement of genetic polymorphism of CYP2D6 in patients with cardiovascular disease can be observed in a cohort study in Malaysia.

# **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

The clinical potential of the SNP revolution has yet to be realised. It remains to be determined whether the current approaches, namely candidate gene studies and whole-genome scans, will be effective in dissecting the genetic basis of common as well as rare complex diseases. So far, the majority of published studies have identified a handful of genetic markers (i.e. SNPs) that alter the risk for disease outcome. It is difficult to predict how many genetic markers are validated in well-designed confirmation studies. If the current approaches are successful, the next step will be to understand the relationship among informative SNPs and haplotypes and begin to build profiles comprising genetic markers present in different regions of the genome. If this can be accomplished, an additional, difficult step will be to determine the significance of each contributing SNP or haplotype. In the near future, it will be necessary to develop more sophisticated analytical tools to investigate gene-gene interactions, but on a scale larger than currently available. Similarly, it will also be critical to account for gene-environment interactions, many of which will require parallel investigation in animal models or in vitro laboratory studies.

Deciphering the contribution of genetic variation to disease outcome carries important implications for the theory and practice of medicine. Based upon the initial findings of such investigations, it is anticipated that the most significant observations derived from SNP-based studies will be to identify genetic markers that alter the risk for a disease outcome. The intercalation of these data into clinical medicine will be a daunting task, because it will require substantial shifts in the public's perceptions of genetic risk factors and the establishment of a new set of paradigms for clinical medicine. Currently, genetic testing is restricted mainly to a set of informative, highly penetrant disease conditions, in which the presence of a genetic mutation is predictive of a defined outcome. The exact manner in which the findings of SNP-based studies will be integrated into clinical practice remains to be defined. Most likely, it will impact preventive and early intervention strategies, encouraging individuals to make smart choices with respect to exposures or participation in high-risk activities.

The promise of pharmacogenomics could substantially shift current algorithms for drug therapy in clinical medicine. Selection of a particular drug could take into account an individual's genetic profile to predict the likelihood for response. Determination of genetic profiles associated with severe or life-threatening toxicity will permit health care providers to choose alternative prescriptions. An informative example is the altered metabolism of a commonly used drug for treatment of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia, 6-mercaptopurine, which has a frequency of slightly less than 1%. Previously, it has been noted that a small subset of patients developed potentially fatal hematopoietic toxicity. This lowprevalence thiopurine intolerance occurs in individuals who are homozygous for one of several rare variants in the TPMT (thiopurine S-methyltransferase) gene27. These data suggested that screening of newly diagnosed patients could avoid deleterious complications in all and thus, therapy could be modified for the at-risk group.

# CONCLUSIONS

Thus, genetic polymorphisms do affect the health of an individual and do not directly cause the diseases but merely alter the risk of developing a disease. By analyzing the disease associated SNPs we may predict the likelihood that an individual will develop a specific disease or physiological condition and can be used to develop clinical prevention. Knowledge about the relationships between polymorphisms and disease outcomes and conducting the molecular epidemiological studies to detect the genetic polymorphisms can also be used for reinforcing healthy lifestyles, drug development, animal toxicity studies, improvement of human clinical trials, post market monitoring surveillance for drug efficacy and toxicity, motivating positive behavior changes, helping to target medical therapy, and aiding in better focusing surveillance activities.

# SELECTED PUBLICATIONS

- Aisyah Ali, Vasudevan Ramachandran, Patimah Ismail, Christoper Lim Thiam Seong and Srikumar Chakravarthi (2011). Analysis of Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Gene in Malaysian End Stage Renal Disease Patients. *Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System. Vol 12, Issue 3, Sept 2011 pp 224-230.*
- Ramachandran Vasudevan, Norhasniza Binti Mohamd Nor, Patimah Ismail (2011). Association of Variable Number of Tandem Repeats Polymorphism in Interleukin (IL)-4 Gene in Malaysian ESRD Subjects. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 10 (2): 943-947 (2011)

- R. Vasudevan, CPN Fathihah, I Patimah (2011) . Analysis of Three Polymorphisms in Bidayuh Ethnic of Sarawak Population- a Report from Malaysia. *African Journal of Biotechnology, Vol. 10(22), pp. 4544-4549, 30 May, 2011*
- Mirsaed Miri Nargesi, Patimah, I., Azad Hassan Abdul Razack, Parvin Pasalar, Ali Nazemi, Sima Attaollahi Oshkoor and Peyman Amini (2011). Linkage between Prostate Cancer Occurrence and Y-Chromosomal DYS Loci in Malaysian Subjects. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev, 12, 1-4.
- Seyed Jalal Marashi , Sima Ataollahi Eshkoor , Mirsaed Mirinargesi , Mohammad Reza Sarookhani , Asmah Bt. Rahmat , Patimah Ismail. Detection of eighth common β-Globin gene mutation in thalassemia major Patients Using Real Time PCR-High Resolution Melting and EvaGreen<sup>TM</sup> dye. Accepted in African Journal of Biotechnology (In press-2011).
- B. Sahar Ansari, R. Vasudevan, M. Mirinargesi, I. Patimah, A.R. Sabariah, P. Pasalar and Ali Bakhshi (2010). Analysis of Glutathione S-transferase (M1, T1, and P1) Gene Polymorphisms in Iranian Prostate Cancer Subjects. *African Journal of Biotechnology Vol. 9(43), pp. 7230-7235, 25 October,* 2010.
- Ooi Keok Loo, Mohd Yusoff Adon, Cheah Yoke Kqueen, Patimah Ismail, Abdul Manan Mat Jais (2010). A Comparative Study of Metallothionein Gene Expression in Peripheral Lymphocytes and Blood Cadmium Level Among Die Casting Male Workers. *Global Journal of Health Science Vol. 2, No.* 2; October 2010

- R. Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin (2009). Analysis of renin-angiotensin aldosterone system gene polymorphisms in Malaysian essential hypertensive and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Cardiovascular Diabetology, 8:11*.
- R. Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin (2009). Analysis of Three Genetic Polymorphisms in Malaysian Essential Hypertensive and Type 2 Diabetic Subjects. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 8(10): 2069-2075.
- R. Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Aisyah Ali, Mimi Soraya Mansor (2009). No Association of TCF7L2 and ENPP1 Gene Polymorphisms in Malaysian Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus with or without Hypertension. *Research Journal of Biological Science*, 4(6): 703-709.
- B. Sahar Ansari, R. Vasudevan, M. Mirinargesi, I. Patimah, A.R. Sabariah, P. Pasalar and Ali Bakhshi (2009). Lack of Association of Glutathione S-transferase Gene Polymorphisms in Iranian Prostate Cancer Subjects. *American Journal of Biochemistry and Biotechnology 5 (1): 30-34.*
- R. Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin (2009).. Analysis of 14 genetic polymorphisms for risk factors in Malaysian essential hypertension with or without type 2 diabetes mellitus subjects. *International Journal* of Cardiology Volume 137, Supplement 1, October 2009, Pages S55-S56.
- Sima Ataollahi Eshkoor, Patimah Ismail, Sabariah Abdul Rahman, Mirsaed Mirinargesi, Soraya Ataollahi Oshkour. Immunohistochemica (2009). Expression of CCND1and p16 Genes in Tissue Microarray. Austral - Asian Journal of Cancer, 8 (2).

- 14. R.Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin, Aisyah binti Ali (2008). Association of Insertion/ Deletion Polymorphism of Alpha-Adrenoceptor Gene in Essential Hypertension with or without Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Malaysian Subjects. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 2008; 4(6):362-7. Epub Oct , 2008.
- 15. R.Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin, Saidi Moin, Rusni Mohd Jas (2008). Association of Insertion/Deletion Polymorphism of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Gene with Essential Hypertension and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Malaysian Subjects. *Journal of Renin Angiotensin-Aldosterone System, 9 (4):208-214*.
- 16. Sakineh Abbasi, Patimah Ismail, Fauziah Othman, Rosita Rosli, Zahra Ousati Ashtiani, Majid Mojarrad, Sima Abdi-Oskouei,Fatemeh Mahboubi Nejad,Cyrus Azimi (2009). Estrogen receptor-α(ESR1) gene codon 10 (T392C) polymorphism in Iranian women with breast cancer: a case control study, *Trends in Molecular Sciences1 (1): 1-10*.
- 17. Sakineh Abbasi, Azimi Cyrus, Fauziah Othman, Mohammah Housain Modarresi, Sima Abdi-Oskouei, Fatemeh Mahboubi Nejad, Patimah Ismail (2009). Risk Factors for Breast Cancer in Iranian Women: a case - control study. *International Journal* of cancer research 5(1):1-11.
- R.Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin (2008). Association of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme G2350A Polymorphism with Essential Hypertension and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Subjects. *Journal of Biological Sciences, 8 (6): 1045-1050.*

- R.Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin (2008). BglI dimorphism of Human Renin Gene and Essential Hypertension in Malaysian Subjects. *Research Journal of Biological Sciences 3 (10): 1218-1222.*
- 20. R.Vasudevan, Patimah Ismail, Johnson Stanslas, Norashikin Shamsudin (2008). C-511T Polymorphism of Interleukin -1 ß Gene is not associated in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus – a study in Malaysian Population. *Journal of Medical Sciences*, 8 (3); 216-221.
- 21. Adel al-Zubairi, Patimah, I., Chong P.P and Asmah, R.(2008). Genotoxic effect of Catha edulis (khat) crude extract after subchronic administration in rats". *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology. Volume 25, Issue 3, May 2008, Pages 298-303*
- 22. Sima,A.T, I. Patimah, Y.k. Cheah, S.A.Rahman, R. vasudevan and A.T.Soraya (2008). Expression of CDK6 and CCND1 Genes in Basal Cell Carcinoma *.Journal of Medical & Biological Sciences. Volume 2, Issue 2.*
- 23. Manal MET, Parisha H, Patimah I, Siddig IA, Fauziah O. (2007). The Effect of Azadirachta indica on Alpha Fetoprotein Serum Concentration, Glutauione S Transferase, GPx in Heaptocarcinogenesis Induced Rat. *International Journal of Cancer Research. Year: 2007 | Volume: 3 | Issue: 2 | Page No.:* 111-118
- 24. Ambok Bolong Abol-Munafi, Mohd Azmi Ambak, Patimah Ismail and Bui Minh Tam. (2007). Molecular Data from the Cytochrome b for the Phylogeny of Channidae (*Channa sp.*). *Malaysia. Biotechnology 6 (1): 22-27.*

- 25. Mohd Azmi Ambak, Ambok Bolong Abol-Munafi, Patimah Ismail and Bui Minh Tam. (2006). Genetic Variation of Snakehead Fish (Channa striata) Populations Using Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA. *Biotechnology 5 (1): 104-110*.
- 26. Catherine Hill, Pedro Soares, Maru Mormina, Vincent Macaulay, William Meehan, James Blackburn, Douglas Clarke, Patimah Ismail, David Bulbeck, Stephen Oppenheimer, Martin Richards (2006). Phylogeography and Ethnogenesis of Aboriginal Southeast Asians. *Mol. Biol Evol. (23 (12):2480-2491.*
- 27. Asmah Rahmat, Susi Edrini, Abdah Md. Akim, Patimah Ismai, Taufiq Yap Yun Hin, and Mohd Fadzelly Abu Bakar (2006). Anticarcinogenic Properties of Strobilanthes crispus Extracts and Its Compounds in vitro.International *Journal of Cancer Research 2(1): 47-49. Academic Journal Inc. USA.*
- Behnam Kamalidehghan, Massound Housmand, Patimah Ismail and Muhammad Hassan Hossein Akhbar (2006). mtDNA 4799 in non-tumoral cells is more common in gastric cancer. *Arch Med. Res. 2006 Aug; 37(6):730-735.*
- 29. Behnam Kamalidehghan, Massound Housmand, Patimah Ismail, Amri Saroukplaei S. Shafa Shariat Panahi M and MM Banoei (2005). 8.9kb deletion in tumoral cell mtDNA is more common than other deletions in gastric cancer. *Arch of Med. Res. Volume 37(7), p 848-853.*
- 30. Henry Harpending, Vinayak Eswaran;, Vincent Macaulay, Catherine Hill, Alessandro Achilli, Chiara Rengo, Douglas Clarke, William Meehan, James Blackburn, Ornella Semino, Rosaria Scozzari, Fulvio Cruciani, Adi Taha, Norazila Kassim Shaari, Joseph Maripa Raja, Patimah Ismail, Zafarina Zainuddin, William Goodwin, David Bulbeck, Hans-Jürgen

Bandelt, Stephen Oppenheimer, Antonio Torroni, Martin Richards;, Kumarasamy Thangaraj, Gyaneshwer Chaubey, Toomas Kivisild, Alla G. Reddy, Vijay K. Singh, Avinash A. Rasalkar, and Lalji Singh (2005) *Tracing Modern Human Origins SCIENCE 23 September 2005: 1995-1997.* 

- 31. Asmah Rahmat, Susi Edrini, Abdah Md. Akim, Patimah Ismail, Taufiq Yap Yun Hin and Mohd Fadzelly Abu Bakar (2006). Anticarcinogenic Properties of Strobilanthes crispus . Extracts and its Compounds in vitro. *International Journal of Cancer Research 2(1) 47-49.*
- 32. Siti Azizah, M.N., A.Ruzainah and I.Patimah (2005) Development of RAPD markers in the Eel-loach (Pangio sp.) for genetic discrimination and monitoring of wild and cultured populations. *World Aquaculture Vol 36 (1) 37-43*.
- 33. Abdah Md. Akim ,Asmah Rahmat, Patimah Ismail and Taufiq Yap Yun Hin, (2005). The effect of Sitosterol and Stigmasterol on C-MYC Oncogene Expression in Colon, Liver and Breast Cancer Cell Lines, *Malaysian Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (2005)11, 85.*
- 34. Abdah Md. Akim ,Asmah Rahmat, Taufiq Yap Yun Hin, Patimah Ismail, and Fauziah Othman (2005). Apoptosis induced by micronutinin on human breast cancer cells, MCF7. *Malaysian Journal of Microscopy, 1 Dec 2005, 69-72.*
- 35. Asmah Rahmat, Abdah Md. Akim , , Taufiq Yap Yun Hin, Patimah Ismail (2005). The effect of Oryzanol, Stigmasterol and Micronutritinin on C-ERBB2 Oncogene Expression in Breast Cancer Cell Lines, MCF 7. *Malaysian Journal of Biochemistry* and Molecular Biology (2005)11, 86.

- 36. Mohd Nazil Salleh, Patimah Ismail, Yun Hin Taufiq and Mary Bollard (2005). Histological and Biochemical Profiling Changes On C57BL/6J Female Mice Strain Following Diethystilbestrol Treatment using H-NMR Spectroscopy. *Annal of Microscopy*, *Vol.5:33-39*.
- Yogespiriyas, Hanachi, P., Asmah, R., Fauziah, O and Patimah, I. (2005). Histological study during hepatocarcinogenesis in rats treated with *Strobilanthus crispus* extract. *Journal of Biological Sciences*. 5(2)153-157.
- 38. Vincent Macaulay, Catherine Hill, Alessandro Achilli, Chiara Rengo, Douglas Clarke, William Meehan, James Blackburn, Ornella Semino, Rosaria Scozzari, Fulvio Cruciani, Adi Taha, Norazila Kassim Shaari, Joseph Maripa Raja, Patimah Ismail, Zafarina Zainuddin, William Goodwin, David Bulbeck, Hans-Jürgen Bandelt, Stephen Oppenheimer, Antonio Torroni, and Martin Richards(2005).Single, Rapid Coastal Settlement of Asia Revealed by Analysis of Complete Mitochondrial Genomes. *Science 13 May 2005: 1034-1036*.
- 39. Mohd Nazil Salleh, Chew Yee Choy, Patimah Ismail, Norashikin Shamsuddin and Paul Carmichael.(2005). Communications of Neu/c-erB-2 Receptor and Inhibits Growth of Human Malignant Glioma Cell Lines Following Tamoxifen Treatment. *International Journal of Cancer Research* 1(1):25-28.

## REFERENCES

- Ascherio A, Rimm E.B, Giovannucci E.L, Colditz G.A, Rosner B, Willett W.C, Sacks F. and Stampfer M.J. (1992). A prospective study of nutritional factors and hypertension among US men. *Circulation* 1992; 86:1475-1484.
- Adamo, K.B, and Tesson, F. (2008). Gene-environment interaction and the metabolic syndrome. *Novartis Found Symp.*93:103-19.
- Agachan, B., Isbir, T., Yilmaz, H. and Akoglu, E.(2003). Angiotensin converting enzyme I/D, angiotensinogen T174M-M235T and angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C gene polymorphisms in Turkish hypertensive patients. *Exp Mol Med.* 35(6):545-9.
- Agarwal, A., Williams, G.H. and Fisher, N.D. (2005). Genetics of Human Hypertension. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* 16(3):127-33.
- Ajani, U.A., Dunbar, S.B., Ford, E.S., Mokdad, A.H. and Mensah, G.A.(2005). Sodium intake among people with normal and high blood pressure. American *Journal of Preventive Medicine 29: 63–67*.
- Ardlie, K.G., Lunetta, K.L. and Seielstad, M. (2002). Testing for population subdivision and association in four case–control studies. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 271: 304–311.
- Barley, J., Blackwood, A., Cartere, N.D., Crew, D., Cruickshank, J.K., Jeffreys, S., Ogunlesi, A.O. and Segnella, G.A.(1994). Angiotensin converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism: Association with ethnic origin. *Journal of Hypertesion*, 12:955-957.
- Beevers, D.G. and MacGreogor, G.(1999). Hypertension in practice. Martin Dunitz: UK Publisher: Informa Healthcare; 3 edition (10 Mar 1999).
- Bianchi G, Tripodi G, Casari G, Salardi S, Barber BR, Garcia R, Leoni P, Torielli L, Cusi D, and Ferrandi M.(1994). Two point mutations within the adducin genes are involved in blood pressure variation. *Proceedings* for the National Academy of Science USA, 91: 3999–4003.
- Botstein, D., White, R.L., Skolnick, M. and Davis, R.W. (1980). Construction of a Genetic Linkage Map in Man Using Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms. *Am. J. Hum Genet.* 32:314-331.

- Calderon, K.S., Yucha, C.B. and Schaffer, S.D. (2005). Obesity-related cardiovascular risk factors: Intervention recommendations to decrease adolescent obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 20: 3–14.
- Cardon, L.R. and Palmer, L.J. (2003). Population stratification and spurious allelic association. *Lancet*, 361: 598–604.
- Casari G, Barlassina C, Cusi D, Zagato L, Muirhead R, Righetti M, Nembri P, Amar K, Gatti M. and Macciardi F. (1995). Association of the  $\alpha$ -adducin locus with essential hypertension. *Hypertension*, 25:320–326.
- Castellano, M., Barlassina, C., Rossi, F., Giacche, M., Rivadossi, F., Muiesan, M.L., Beschi, M., Cusi, D., Bianchi, G. and Agabiti-Rosei, E. (2003). Age-dependency of alpha-adducin polymorphism modulation of blood pressure. *Journal of Hypertension*, 21: 14-21.
- Castro R, Rivera I, Ravasco P, Jakobs C, Blom H.J, Camilo M.E. and de Almeida I.T.(2003). 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677C-->T and 1298A-->C mutations are genetic determinants of elevated homocysteine. *Q.J.Med*, *96(4): 297-303*.
- Caulfield, M., Munroe, P., Pembroke, J., Samani, N., Dominiczak, A. and Brown, M. (2003) Genome-wide mapping of human loci for essential hypertension. *Lancet*, 361: 2118–2123.
- Chiang, F.T., Hsu, K.L., Tseng, C.D., Lo, H.M., Chern, T.H. and Tseng, Y.Z. (1997). Association of the renin gene polymorphism with essential hypertension in a Chinese population. *Clinical Genetics*, 51: 370–374.
- Clark, C.J., Davies, E., Anderson, N.H., Farmer, R., Friel, E.C., Fraser, R. and Connell, J.M.(2000). Alpha-adducin and angiotensin I-converting enzyme polymorphisms in essential hypertension. *Hypertension*, 36: 990–994.
- Clark, L. K., Yutzey, K. E. and Benson, D. W. (2006). Transcription factors and congenital heart defects. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 68:97–121.
- Collins, F.S., Brooks, L.D. and Chakravarti, A. (1998). A DNA Polymorphism Discovery *Resource for Research on Human Genetic Variation. Genome Research*, 12:1229-1231.
- Collins, F.S., Guyer, M.S. and Charkravarti, A. (1997). Variations on

Does Genetic Polymorphisms Affect Health?

a theme: Cataloging human DNA sequence variation. SCIENCE, 278:1580–1581.

- Cordell, H.J. and Clayton, D.G. (2005). Genetic association studies. *Lancet*, 366: 1121–1131.
- Curnow, K.M., Tusie-Luna, M.T., Pascoe, L., Natarajan, R., Gu, J.L., Nadler, J.L. and White, P.C. (1991). The product of the CYP11B2 gene is required for aldosterone biosynthesis in the human adrenal cortex. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 5:1513–1522.
- Cusi, D., Barlassina, C. and Azzani, T. (1997). Polymorphisms of alphaadducin and salt sensitivity in patients with essential hypertension. *Lancet*, 349:1353–1357.
- Daimon, M., Oizumi, T., Saitoh, T., Kameda, W., Hirata, A., Yamaguchi, H., Ohnuma, H., Igarashi, M. and Tominaga, M. (2003). The D Allele of the Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Insertion/Deletion (I/D) Polymorphism is a Risk Factor for Type 2 Diabetes in a Population-Based Japanese Sample. *Endocronology Journal*, 50:393-398.
- Danser, A.H., Derkx, F.H., Hense, H.W., Jeunemaitre, X., Riegger, G.A. and Schunkert, H. (1998). Angiotensinogen (M235T) and angiotensinconverting enzyme (I/D) polymorphisms in association with plasma renin and prorenin levels. *Hypertension*, 16: 1879–1883.
- Davies, E., Holloway, C.D. and Ingram, M.C. (1999). Aldosterone synthase gene CYP11b2 polymorphism in hypertension. *Hypertension*, 33:703.
- Dewan, S. and Wilding, J.P.H. (2003). Obesity and Type-2 Diabetes in the Elderly. *Gerontology*, 49:137-145.
- Diamond, J. (2003). The double puzzle of diabetes. Nature, 423 : 599-602.
- Doris, P.A. (2002). Hypertension genetics, single nucleotide polymorphisms, and the common disease:common variant hypothesis. *Hypertension*, 39:323–331.
- Elavazhagan, T., Jayakumar, S., Chitravadivu, C. and Balakrishnan, V. (2009). Detection of MTHFR C677T and A1298C Gene Polymorphism in Congenital Heart Disease. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 4(2):127-132.
- Engeli, S. and Sharma, A.M. (2002). Emerging concepts in the pathophysiology and treatment of obesity-associated hypertension. *Curr Opin Cardiol*, 17 : 355–359.
- Erdos, E. and Skidgel, R.A. (1987). The angiotensin I-converting enzyme. *Laboratory Investigation*, 56:345-48.
- Fabris, B., Bortoletto, M., Candido, R., Barbone, F., Cattin, M.R., Calci, M., Scanferla, F., Tizzoni, L., Giacca, M. and Carretta, R. (2005). Genetic polymorphisms of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and renal insufficiency in essential hypertension. *Journal of Hypertension*, 2:309-316.
- Fardella, C.E., Rodriguez, H., Montero, J., Zhang, G, Vignolo, P., Rojas, A., Villarroel, L. and Miller, W.L. (1996). Genetic variation in P450c11AS in Chilean patients with low renin hypertension. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology Metabolism*, 81: 4347–4351.
- Feldstein, C.A., Akopian, M., Olivieri, A.O., Kramer, A.P., Nasi, M., and Garrido, D.A. (2005). Comparison of body mass index and waistto-hip ratio as indicators of hypertension risk in an urban Argentine population: A hospital-based study. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular, 15: 310–315.*
- Fodor, J. and Tzerovska, R. (2004). Coronary heart disease: is gender important?. *The Journal of Men's Health & Gender, 1: 32–37.*
- Freestone, S. and Ramsay, L.E. (1982). Effect of coffee and cigarette smoking on the blood pressure of untreated and diuretic-treated hypertensive patients. *American Journal of Medicine*, 73:348.
- Frosst P, Blom H.J, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard C.A, Matthews R.G, Boers G.J, den Heijer M, Kluijtmans L.A and van den Heuvel L.P. (1995). A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: A common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Nat Genet*, 10(1): 111-3.
- Fruchart J.C, Nierman M.C, Stroes E.S, Kastelein J.J, Duriez P. (2004). New risk factors for atherosclerosis and patient risk assessment.

Circulation, 109: 15-9.

- Gaillard, I., Clauser, E. and Corvol, P. (1989). Structure of human angiotensinogen gene. DNA, 8(2):87-99.
- Garcia, E.A., Newhouse, S., Caulfield, M.J. and Munroe, P.B. (2003). Genes and hypertension. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 9:1679– 1689.
- Garcia-Fragoso, L., Garcia-Garcia, I. and Leavitt, G. (2010). MTHFR polymorphisms in Puerto Rican children with isolated congenital heart disease and their mothers. International *Journal of Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 2(3):43–47.
- Garland, E. and Biaggioni, I. (2001). Genetic polymorphisms of adrenergic receptors. *Clinical Autonomic Research*, 11:67-78.
- Gavras, I. and Gavras, H. (2001). Role of a2-adrenergic receptors in hypertension. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 14:171–177.
- Gelehrler, T.D. and Collins, F.S. (1990). Principles of Medical Genetics, *Williams and Williams*.
- Gerich, J.E. (1998). The genetic basis of type 2 diabetes mellitus: impaired insulin secretion versus impaired insulin sensitivity. *Endocrine Reviews*, 19: 491-503.
- Gersony, W. M. and Rosenbaum M. S. (2002). Genetics of congenital heart disease. In K. Anyane-Yeboa, Congenital heart disease in the adults. United State of America: The McGraw-Hill companies, 281-293.
- Ghazali, D.M., Rehman. A. and Rahman, A.R. (2008). Candidate gene polymorphisms and their association with hypertension in Malays. *Clin Chim Acta*, 388(1-2):46-50.
- Giasuddin, A.S.M, Adesanya, C.O. and Isah, H.S. (1991). Serum electrolytes and Calcium status iin Nigerian patients with essential hypertension. *Journal of Islamic Academy of Sciences, 4:3, 253-256.*
- Goodfriend, T.L., Egan, B.M. and Kelley, D.E. (1999). Plasma aldosterone, plasma lipoproteins, obesity and insulin resistance in humans. *Prostagland Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 60:401–405.

- Gordon, D.J. (1993). HDL and coronary heart disease an epidemiological perspective. *Journal of Drug Development*, 3:11-17.
- Green, M.S., Jucha, E. and Luz, Y. (1986). Blood pressure in smokers and nonsmokers: Epidemiologic findings. *American Heart Journal*, 111:932.
- Grodzicker, T., Williams, J., Sharp, P. and Sambrook, J. (1974). Physical mapping of temperaturesensitive mutations of adenoviruses. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp Quant Biol, 39:439-446.*
- Haire-Joshu D., Glasgow, R.E. and Tibbs, T.L. (1999). Smoking and diabetes (Technical Review). *Diabetes Care*, 22:1887–1898.
- Haliassos, A., Chomel, J.C., Tesson, L., Baudis, M., Kruh, J., Kaplan, J.C. and Kitzis, A. (1989). Modification of enzymatically amplified DNA for the detection of point mutations. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 17:3606.
- Hall, J.E., Crook, E.D., Jones, D.W., Wofford, M.R. and Dubbert, P.M. (2002). Mechanisms of obesity-associated cardiovascular and renal disease. *Am J Med Sci*, 324 : 127–137.
- He, X., Zhu, D.L., Chu, S.L., Jin, L., Xiong, M.M. and Wang, G.L. (2001). Alpha-adducin gene and essential hypertension in China. *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension*, 23:579–589.
- Heinonen, P., Koulu, M., Pesonen, U., Karvonen, M.K., Rissanen, A., Laakso, M., Valve, R., Uusitupa, M. and Scheinin, M. (1999). Identification of a three-amino acid deletion in the \_2B-adrenergic receptor that is associated with reduced basal metabolic rate in obese subjects. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 84:2429–2433.
- Heinonen, P., Pettersson-Fernholm, K. and Forsblom, C. (2005). A deletion polymorphism of the alpha2B-adrenergic receptor gene is not associated with late complications in Type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabet Med*, 22(2):226-8.
- Hilgers, K.F., Delles, C., Veelken, R. and Schmieder, R.E. (2001). Angiotensinogen gene core promoter variants and non-modulating hypertension. *Hypertension*, 38:1250-1254.
- Hobbs FD. (2006). Reducing cardiovascular risk in diabetes: beyond glycemic and blood pressure control. *Int J Cardiol*, *110*(2):137-45.

- Hoffman, J.I. and Kaplan, S. (2002). The incidence of congenital heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol, 39: 1890–1900*.
- Howard, B.V. (1995). Pathogenesis of diabetic dyslipidemia. *Diabetes Rev, 3: 423-32.*
- http//.www.genome.gov, Haplotype Map Development Report.
- Huang, Q.Y., Cheng, M.R. and Ji, S.L. (2006). Linkage and association studies of the susceptibility genes for type 2 diabetes. *Yi Chuan Xue Bao*, 7:573-589.
- Hunt, S.C., Cook, N.R., Oberman, A., Cutler, J.A., Hennekens, C.H., Allender, P.S., Walker, W.G., Whelton, P.K. and Williams, R.R. (1998). Angiotensinogen genotype, sodium reduction, weight loss, and prevention of hypertension: trials of hypertension prevention, phase II. *Hypertension*, 32:393–401.
- Ihab M. Hajjar, M.D, Grim, C.E, George, V. and Kotchen, A.T. (2001). Impact of Diet on Blood Pressure and Age-Related Changes in Blood Pressure in the US Population, Analysis of NHANES III. Arch Intern Med, 161:589-593.
- Inoue, I., Nakajima, T., Williams, C.S., et al. (1997). A nucleotide substitution in the promoter of human angiotensinogen is associated with essential hypertension and affects basal transcription in vitro. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 99: 1786–1797.
- Ishigami, T., Umemura, S., Tamura, K., Hibi, K., Nyui, N., Kihara, M., Yabana, M., Watanabe, Y., Sumida, Y., Nagahara, T., Ochiai, H. and Ishii, M. (1997). Essential hypertension and 5\_upstream core promoter region of human angiotensinogen gene. *Hypertension*, 30:1325–1330.
- Ismail, I.S., W., Nazaimoon, W., Muhamad, R., Letchuman, M., Singaraveloo, F.L. Hew, C. Shuguna, and B. A. K. Khalid. (2001). Ethnicity and glycaemic control are major determinants of diabetic dyslipidaemia, *Diabetic Medicine*, 18: 501 – 508.
- Izawa, H., Yamada, Y., Okada, T., Tanaka, M., Hirayama, H. and Yokota, M. (2003). Prediction of genetic risk for hypertension. *Hypertension*, 41(5):1035-40.
- Jeunemaitre X, Soubrier F, Kotelevtsev Y.V, Lifton R.P, Williams C.S, Charru A, Hunt S.C, Hopkins P.N, Williams R.R and Lalouel

J.M. (1992). Molecular basis of human hypertension: role of angiotensinogen. *Cell*, 71: 169–180.

- Kahn, C.R., Vicent, D. and Doria, A. (1996). Genetics of non insulin dependent (TypeII) diabetes mellitus. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 47:509–531.
- Smith, K. (2002). Genetic Polymorphism and SNPS (Genotyping, Haplotype Assembly Problem, Haplotype Map, Functional Genomics and Proteomics.
- Kang, D., Lee, K.H., Lee, K.M., Kwon, H.J., Hong, Y.C., Cho, S.H. and Strickland, P.T. (2005). Design issues in cross-sectional biomarkers studies: urinary biomarkers of PAH exposure and oxidative stress. *Mutat Res*, 592(1-2):138-46.
- Kannel, W.B. (2004). Update on hypertension as cardiovascular risk factor. In Manual of hypertension. Manica, G. London : Churchill Livingstone.
- Kato, N. (2002). Genetic Analysis in Human Hypertension. *Hypertension Research*, 25: 319–327.
- Kawakami, N., Takatsuka, N., Shimizu, H. and Ishibashi, H. (1997). Effects of smoking on incidence. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 145: 103-109.
- Kearney P.M., Whelton M., Reynolds K., Muntner P., Whelton P.K and He J. (2005). Global burden of hypertension: analysis of worldwide data. *Lancet*, 365(9455): 217-23.
- Keavney B, McKenzie C.A, Connell J.M, Julier C, Ratcliffe P.J, Sobel E, Lathrop M. and Farrall M. (1998). Measured haplotype analysis of the angiotensin-I converting enzyme gene. *Hum Mol Genet*, 11: 1745–1751.
- Kelsey, J.L., Whittlemore, A.S., Evans, A.S., & Thompson, W.D. (1996). Methods in observational epidemiology. *New York: Oxford University Press, Vol. 26.*
- Khan, Z.A. and Chakrabarti, S. (2003). Growth factors in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. *Exp Diabesity Res, 4(4):287-301.*

- Kim, H.S., Krege, J.H. and Kluckman, K.D. (1995). Genetic control of blood pressure and the angiotensinogen locus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 92: 2735–2739.
- Kirk, P. E., Sunde, M., Costa, M. W., Scott, A., Rankin, S. A., Wolstein, O., Castro, M. L., Butler, T. L., Hyun, C., Guo, G., Otway, R., Mackay, J. P., Waddell, L. B., Cole, A.,D, Hayward, C., Keogh, A., Macdonald, P., Griffiths, L., Fatkin, D., Sholler, D. F., Zorn, A. M., Feneley, M. P., Winlaw, D.,S. and Harvey R.P. (2007). Mutations in cardiac T-Box factor gene TBX20 are associated with diverse cardiac pathologies, including defects of septation and valvulogenesis and cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet*, 81:280-291.
- Kluijtmans, L.A.J., Young, I.S. and Boreham, C.A. (2003). Genetic and nutritional factors contributing to hyperhomocysteinemia in young adults. *Blood*, 101(7).
- Kohara. (2008). Candidate Gene Approach: The Millennium Genome Project for Hypertension. *Hypertens Research*, 31: No. 2.
- Koskenvuo, M., Kaprio, J. and Romanov, K. (1992). Twin studies in metabolic diseases. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 24:379-381.
- Krushkal, J., Ferrell, R., Mockrin, S.C., Turner, S.T., Sing, C.F. and Boerwinkle, E. (1999). Genome-wide linkage analyses of systolic blood pressure using highly discordant siblings. *Circulation*, 99(11):1407-10.
- Kwon, J.M. and Goate, A.M. (2000). The candidate gene approach. Alcohol Research Health, 24(3):164-8.
- Laakso, M., Lehto, S., Penttila, I. and Pyorala, K. (1993). Lipids and lipoproteins predicting coronary heart disease mortality and morbidity in patients with noninsulin-dependent diabetes. *Circulation*, 88: 1421 – 1430.
- Lander, E.S. and Schork, N.J. (1994). Genetic dissection of complex traits. *Science*, 265: 2037–2048.
- Lele, R.D. (2004). Hypertension : Molecular Approach. *The Journal of the Association of Physicians of India, 52: 53-62.*
- Levy, D., DeStefano, A.L., Larson, M.G., at al. (2000). Evidence for a

Gene Influencing Blood Pressure on Chromosome 17: Genome Scan Linkage Results for Longitudinal Blood Pressure Phenotypes in Subjects From the Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension*, 36:477-483.

- Lewington S. and Clarke R. (2005). Combined effects of systolic blood pressure and total cholesterol on cardiovascular disease risk. *Circulation, 29: 112 (22):3373-3374.*
- Lifton, R.P., Dluhy, R.G., Powers, M., Rich, G.M., Cook, S., Ulick, S. and Lalouel, J.M. (1992). A chimaeric 11beta-hydroxylase/aldosterone synthase gene causes glucocorticoid-remediable aldosteronism and human hypertension. *Nature*, 355:262–265.
- Lim, T.O. and Morad, Z. (2004). Prevalence, awareness, treatment and control of hypertension in the Malaysian adult population: results from the national health and morbidity survey 1996. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 45:20–27.
- Liu, C., Shen, A., Li, X., Jiao, W., Zhang, X. and Li, Z. (2008). T-box transcription factor TBX20 mutations in Chinese patients with congenital heart disease. *European Journal of Medical Genetics*, 51(6):580-587.
- Lockette, W., Ghosh, S., Farrow, S., MacKenzie, S., Baker, S., Miles, P., Schork, A. and Cadaret, L. (1995). Alpha 2-adrenergic receptor gene polymorphism and hypertension in blacks. *American Journal* of Hypertension, 4:390-394.
- Malik, F.S., Lavie, C.J., Mehra, M.R., Milani, R.V. and Re, R.N. (1997). Renin-angiotensin system: genes to bedside. *Am Heart J*, 134(3):514-26.
- Marre M, Bernadet P, Gallois Y, Savagner F, Guyene T.T, Hallab M, Cambien F, Passa P. and Alhenc-Gelas F. (1994). Relationship between angiotensin I converting enzyme gene polymorphism, plasma levels, and diabetic retinal and renal complication. *Diabetes*, 43: 384–388.
- Masuo, K. (2010). Roles of beta2- and beta3-adrenoceptor polymorphisms in hypertension and metabolic syndrome. *Int'l J Hypertens*.

- Mattei, M. G. and Hubert, C., Alhenc-Gelas, F., Roeckel, N., Corvol, P. and Soubrier, F. (1989). Angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene is on chromosom 17. *Cytogent. Cell Gene*, 51: 1041.
- Meigs, J.B., Cupples, L.A. and Wilson, P.W. (2000). Parental transmission of type 2 diabetes: the Framingham Offspring Study. *Diabetes*, 49 : 2201-2207.
- Meins, M., Henderson, D. J., Bhattacharya, S. S. and Sowden, J. C. (2000). Characterization of the human TBX20 gene, a new member of the T-Box gene family closely related to the Drosophila H15 gene. *Genomics*, 67:317-332.
- Mikkelsen, K.L., Wiinberg, N. and Hoegholm, A. (1997). Smoking related to 24-h ambulatory blood pressure and heart rate. A study in 352 normotensive Danish subjects. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 10:483.
- Mitsuuchi, Y., Kawamoto, T. and Naiki, Y. (1992). Congenitally defective aldosterone biosynthesis in humans: the involvement of point mutations of the P-450C18 gene (CYP11B2) in CMO II deficient patients. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun, 182 (2): 974–9.*
- Molkentin, J. D. and Kalvakolanu, D. V. (1994). Transcription factor GATA-4 regulates cardiac muscle-specific expression of the alpha-myosin heavy-chain gene. *Molec. Cell. Biol*, 14: 4947-4957.
- Mornet, E., Dupont, J., Vitek, A. and White, P.C. (1989). Characterization of two genes encoding human steroid 11 beta-hydroxylase (P-450(11) beta). *Journal of Biology and Chemistry*, 264:20961–20967.
- Morton, N.E. and Collins A. (1998). Tests and estimates of allelic association in complex inheritance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA*, 95:11389–11393.
- Nordfors L, Lindholm B, Stenvinkel P. (2005). End-stage renal diseasenot an equal opportunity disease: the role of genetic polymorphisms. *J Intern Med.* 258(1): 1-12.
- Oren, S., Grossman, E. and Frohlich, E.D. (1996). Arterial and venous compliance in obese and non obese subjects. *American Journal of Cardiology*, 77: 665-776.

- Pereira, A. C., Xavier-Neto, J., Mesquita, S. M., Mota, G. F. A., Augusto Lopes, A. and Krieger, J. E. (2005). Lack of evidence of association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and congenital heart disease in a TDT study design. *Int J Cardiol*, 105, 15–18.
- Persu, A. (2006). Candidate gene studies: accepting negative results. *Journal of Hypertension*, 24:443–445.
- Primatesta, P., Falaschetti, E. and Gupta, S. (2001). Association between smoking and blood pressure: evidence from the health survey for England. *Hypertension*, 37:187.
- Radha, V. and Mohan, V. (2007). Genetic predisposition to type 2 diabetes among Asian Indians. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 125: 259-274.
- Ralston, S.H. Ralston. (2002). Genetic control of susceptibility to osteoporosis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab, 87: 2460–2466.
- Ranade, K., Hsuing, A.C., Wu, K.D., Chang, M.S., Chen, Y.T. and Hebert, J. (2000). Lack of evidence for an association between a-adducin and blood pressure regulation in Asian populations. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 13:704–709.
- Regalado, M., Yang, S. and Wesson, D.E. (2000). Cigarette smoking is associated with augmented progression of renal insufficiency in severe essential hypertension. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, 35:687.
- Rehman, A., Rasool, A.H.G., Naing, L., Roshan, T.M. and Rahman, A.R.A. (2007). Influence of the Angiotensin II Type I Receptor Gene 1166A
  C Polymorphism on BP and Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity Among Malays. *Annals of Human Genetics*, 71:86–95.
- Rigat, B., Hubert, C., Alhenc-Gelas, F., Cambien, F., Corvol, P. and Soubrier, F. (1990). An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene accounting for half the variance of serum enzyme levels. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 86:1343–1346.
- Risch, N. and Merikangas, K. (1996). The future of genetic studies of complex human diseases. *Science*, 273:1516–1517.
- Roberts, D. (1982). Bacteria of public health significance. In: Brown, M.H. (Ed.), Meat Microbiology. *Applied Science Publishers, London*,

pp:319-386.

- S Vikrant, S C Tiwari. (2001). Essential Hypertension–Pathogenesis and Pathophysiology. *Journal Indian Academy of Clinical Medicine*.
- Sachidanandam, R., Weissman, D., Schmidt, S.C., Kakol, J.M., Stein, L.D., Mullikin, J.C., Mortimore, B.J., Willey, D.L., Hunt, S.E. and Cole, C.G. (2001). A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. *Nature*, 409:928–933.
- Sambrook, J. and Russell, R.W. (2001). Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual. 3rd ed. *Cold Spring, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.*
- Sarti, C., and Gallagher, J. (2006). The metabolic syndrome prevalence, CHD risk, and treatment. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications*, 20: 121–132.
- Say, Y.H., Ling, K.H., Duraisamy, G., Isaac, S. and Rosli, R. (2005). Angiotensinogen M235T gene variants and its association with essential hypertension and plasma renin activity in Malaysian subjects: a case control study. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 5(1):7.
- Shai, I., Jiang, R., Manson, J.E., Stampfer, M.J., Willett, W.C., Colditz, G.A. and Hu, F.B. (2006). Ethnicity, obesity, and risk of type 2 diabetes in women: a 20-year follow-up study. *Diabetes Care*, 29(7):1585-90.
- Sharp, P.A., Sugden, B. and Sambrook, J. (1973). Detection of two restriction endonuclease activities in *Haemophilus parainfluenzae* using analytical agarose. *Biochemistry*, 12: 3055-3063.
- Snapir, A., Heinonen, P., Tuomainen, T.P., Alhopuro, P., Karvonen, M.K., Lakka, T.A., et al. (2001). An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the a2B-adrenergic receptor gene is a novel genetic risk factor for acute coronary events. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 37:1516–1522.
- Snapir, A., Mikkelsson, J., Perola, M., Penttila, A., Scheinin, M. and Karhunen, P.J. (2003). Variation in the 2 -adrenoceptor gene as a risk factor for prehospital fatal myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 41:190–194.

- Song, X.M., Zheng, X.Y., Zhu, W.L., Huang, L. and Li, Y. (2006). Relationship between polymorphism of cystathionine beta synthase gene and congenital heart disease in Chinese nuclear families. *Biomed Environ Sci*, 19(6):452-6.
- Staessen, J.A. and Bianchi, G. (2005). Adducin and hypertension. *Pharmacogenomics*, 7:665-669.
- Stennard, F. A., Costa, M. W., Elliott, D. A., Rankin, S., Haast, S. J., Lai, D., McDonald, L. P. A., Niederreither, K., Dolle, P., Bruneau, G. B., Zorn, M. A. and Harvey R.P. (2003). Cardiac T-box factor Tbx20 directly interacts with Nkx2-5, GATA4, and GATA5 in regulation of gene expression in the developing heart. *Developmental Biology*, 262, 206–224.
- Suehiro, T., Morita, T., Inoue, M., Kumon, Y., Ikeda, Y. and Hashimoto, K. (2004). Increased amount of the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) mRNA originating from the ACE allele with deletion. *Human Genetics*, 115:91–96.
- Tam, C.F., Nguyen, L., Pe, S.S., Hajyan, K., Kevork, S., Davis, R., Poon, G., and Lew, P. (2005). The effects of age, gender, obesity, health habits, and vegetable consumption frequency on hypertension in elderly Chinese Americans. *Nutritional Research*, 25: 31–43.
- Targher, G., Alberiche, M., Zenere, M., Bonadonna, R., Muggeo, M. and Bonora, E. (1997). Cigarette smoking and insulin resistance in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 82 : 3619–3624.*
- Tiret, L., Rigat, B., Visvikis, S., Breda, C., Corvol, P., Cambien, F. and Soubrier, F. (1992). Evidence from combined segregation and linkage analysis that a variant of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) gene controls plasma ACE levels. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 51: 197–205.
- Tsai, M.Y., Bignell, M., Schwichtenberg, K. and Hanson, N.Q. (1996). High prevalence of a mutation in the cystathionine beta-synthase gene. *Am J Hum Genet*, 59:1262–7.
- Tsai, M.Y., Bignell, M. and Yang, F. (2000). Polygenic influences on

plasma homocysteine: Association of two prevalent mutations, the 844ins68 of cystathionine b-synthase and A2756G of methionine synthase, with lowered plasma homocysteine levels. *Atherosclerosis*, *149:131-137*.

- Turner R.C, Millns H, Neil H.A, Stratton I.M, Manley S.E, Matthews D.R. and Holman R.R. (1998). Risk factors for coronary artery disease in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus: United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS: 23). *BMJ*, 316(7134):823-8.
- Van Beynum, I.M., Kouwenberg, M., Kapusta, L., den Heijer, M., van der Linden, I.J., Daniels, O. and Blom, H.J. (2006). MTRR 66A>G polymorphism in relation to congenital heart defects. *Clin Chem Lab Med*, 44(11): 1317-1323.
- Van Ittersum, F.J., de Man, A.M., Thijssen, S., de Knijff, P., Slagboom, E., Smulders, Y., Tarnow, L., Donker, A.J., Bilo, H.J. and Stehouwer, C.D. (2000). Genetic polymorphisms of the renin-angiotensin system and complications of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 15(7):1000-1007.
- Vasan, R.S., Beiser, A., Seshadri, S., Larson, M.G., Kannel, W.B. and D'Agostino, R.B. (2002). Residual lifetime risk for developing hypertension in middle aged women and men: The Framingham Heart Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 287:1003-1010.
- Von Wowern, F., Bengtsson, K. and Lindblad, U. (2004). Functional Variant in the 2B Adrenoceptor Gene, a Positional Candidate on Chromosome 2, Associates With Hypertension. *Hypertension*, 43:592-597.
- Weidmann, P., Ferrari, P., Garcia. E.A., Newhouse, S., Caulfield, M.J. and Munroe, P.B. (2003). Genes and hypertension. Central role of sodium in hypertension in diabetic subjects. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 9:1679–1689.
- White, P.C. and Slutsker. (1995). Haplotypes analysis of CYP11B2. Endocronology Research, 21: 437-442.
- White, P.C. (1994). Disorders of aldosterone biosynthesis and action. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 331:250–258.
- Williams, G.H. and Fisher, N.D.L. (1997). Genetic approach to diagnostic

and therapeutic decisions in human hypertension. *Current Opinion in* Nephrology and Hypertension, 6: 199–204.

- Williams, R.R., Hunt, S.C., Hopkins, P.N., Hasstedt, S.J., Wu, L.L. and Lalouel, J.M. (1994). Tabulations and expectations regarding the genetics of human hypertension. *Kidney International*, 45:57–64.
- Woolfson, R.G. and de Wardener, H.E. (1996). Primary renal abnormalities in hereditary hypertension. *Kidney International*, 50:717–731.
- Wowern, F., Bengtsson, K., Lindblad, U., Rastam, L. and Melander, A. (1997). Functional Variant in the 2B Adrenoceptor Gene, a Positional Candidate on Chromosome 2, Associates of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 16:103–109.
- Yamada, Y., Izawa, H., Ichihara, S., Takatsu, F., Ishihara, H., Hirayama, H., Sone, T., Tanaka, M. and Yokota, M. (2002). Prediction of the risk of myocardial infarction from polymorphisms in candidate genes. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 347:1916–1923.
- Zee, R.Y., Lou, Y.K., Griffiths, L.R. and Morris, B.J. (1992). Association of a polymorphism of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene with essential hypertension. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 184(1):9-15.
- Zhao, Y.Y., Zhovu, J., Narayanan, C.S., Cui, Y. and Kumar, A. (1999). Role of C/A polymorphism at -20 on the expression of human angiotensinogen gene. *Hypertension*, 33:108–115.
- Zhu, W.L., Cheng, J. and Dao, J.J. (2004). Polymorphism of Methionine Synthase Gene in Nuclear Families of Congenital Heart Disease. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, 17: 57-64.

# BIOGRAPHY

**Professor Dr. Patimah Ismail** was born on 21st May 1954 in Jerteh, Terengganu. She received her formal education in Sekolah Kebangsaan Alor Keladi and later transferred to Sekolah Pusat Jerteh, Terengganu. When she passed her Standard Six Examination, she was offered to study in a boarding school in Johor. She continued her secondary school in Sekolah Tun Fatimah, Johor Bharu, Johore until the Higher School Certificate (HSC). She was awarded the Malaysia Rubber Research Development Board (MRRDB) scholarship to complete her degree at The University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. Upon completion of her degree, she joined Universiti Pertanian Malaysia as a tutor at the Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science. In 1981 she was offered to do her Ph.D under the Commonwealth Academic Staff Scholarship (AACU) to study at the University of Swansea, Wales, United Kingdom.

Upon completion of her Ph.D in 1984, Professor Dr. Patimah began her teaching career in which she was appointed as a lecturer in the Department of Fisheries Biology, Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science, UPM. In 1996, when the Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science got dissolved and moved to Terengganu, she was offered to join the Faculty of Biomedical Science which later changed its name to The Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences. In 1998 she was promoted as an Associate Professor and Professor in 2009 at the Department of Biomedical Science in the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, UPM.

After a few years of experience in research on toxicology and biotechnology, Professor Patimah managed to secure a Top Down research project an Animal Biotechnology. Since then she is actively involved in research on genetic polymorphism, phylogenetic studies, mutagenicity and also on the development of novel genes for the improvement of indigenous aquarium fish. Her research projects started in 1986 when the R & D for Malaysia Plan was commenced and she was involved in the Recreational Fisheries Project. Later she was deeply involved into research projects when she was granted few other grants from IRPA and SAGA to carry out research especially on genetic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes and cancers.

The results of her research are published in national and international journals. Professor Patimah managed to disseminate her research results mainly on areas particularly pertaining to biotechnology, genetics and toxicology at both national and international conferences and seminars. She has published over 200 research and technical papers in national and international referred journals and supervised over 15 PhDs, 20 Masters and 80 undergraduate students in which her interest to be an academician is still deep in her heart. She also presented papers at numerous conferences and seminars both at national and international levels

She has served in numerous committees in particular those related to her administrative work. She was Head of the Biomedical Department, Deputy Director of the Centre of External Programme and Deputy Director of the Centre of Foundation Studies for Agricultural Science. At the same time she is an expert panel in Biotechnology for the Ministry of Human Resources.

For her effort in teaching, research and administrative work, she received Awards for Outstanding performance for 4 consecutive years and currently she is still actively involved in teaching and research. Her teaching commitment is not only in the Department of Biomedical Science but also in the Department of Community Health and at the Centre of Foundation Studies for Agricultural Science. She received the SETIA PUTRA award in 2005 for her commitment to the Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science and the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences for 25 years of service,

As an expert in genetics and biotechnology, she is known at the international level through her collaboration and paper published in prestigious journals and also attended international conferences and seminars. She has collaborated with the known writer of **THE EVE**, Professor Steven Oppenheimer formally from Oxford University, Dr. Martin Richard of University of Leeds, United Kingdom. In her work with them, a documentary **THE REAL EVE** has been shown in World Premier on Discovery Channel. The other collaborators are Prof. Howard Bradbury of Australia (cyanogens in cassava), Perundurai S. Dhandapany of CCMB, Hyderabad, Indian Deletion Project, Dr. Massoud Housmand of National Institute for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (NIGEB), Iran, Dr. Zivar of Iran and Dr. Parvin Pasalar of the Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine Tehran University of Medical Sciences Enghelab Ave and Professor Dr. Cyrus Azimi of the University of Tehran.

Today she encourages young lecturers to work hard. Her life is an example which teaches us to follow our dreams, no matter how big those dreams are.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge and extend my heartfelt gratitude to my family for their constant encouragement and support, not to forget my dearest granddaughter and grandsons, Elisa, Amir and Umar.

The support and encouragement from Tan Sri Syed Jalaluddin Syed Salim, Professor Tan Sri Nik Mustafa R. Abdullah, Dato Ir. Dr. Radin Umar Radin Sohadi, Prof. Datin Paduka Dr. Aini Ideris and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences are very highly appreciated.

I also would like to thank all individuals involved in the Genetic Research Group, especially to my postdoctoral researcher Dr. R. Vasudevan.

The support from all the staff and students the Biomedical Science Department is very highly appreciated especially to The Head of Department, Associate Professor Dr. Sabrina Sukardi.

My research will not be possible without the support from MOSTI through IRPA, The National Academy of Science, SAGA, and National Biotechnology Directorate for the Top-Down Project, the Ministry of Higher Education through FRGS and Universiti Putra Malaysia for RUGS and Short Term Grant.

I would like to thank all individuals involved in the research; preparation and writing of this book including Dr. R. Vasudevan, Nur Ilyana Jaafar, Nur Afiqah Mohamad, Ali Etemed, Mohd Jokha bin Yahaya, Dr. Nora Fawzi Kadhim and Dr. Hussein Ali Almeamar.

Finally I would like to acknowledge the contributions and support from my colleagues Professor Asmah Rahmat, Professor Fauziah Othman, Dr. Christoper Lim Thiam Seong, Dr. Ahmad Fazli Abdul Aziz, (UPM), Professor Azad (University of Malaya), Dr. SriKumar Chakaravarthi (IMU), Dr. Mazni, Dr. Geetha Kandavelu, Dr. Ahmad Khairuddin (IJN), Prof. Abdul Rashid Abdur Rahman (CUCMS) and international collaborators especially to Professor Stephan

Oppenheimer (University of Oxford, UK), Prof Richard Martin (University of Leeds, UK), Dr. Housmand Massoud (Genetics Diagnosis & Research Department, Tehran, Iran), Prof Cyrus Azimi (University of Tehran), and also friends who contributed directly and indirectly to my success whereby without the generous help of these individuals, I would not be as I am today!

# LIST OF INAUGURAL LECTURES

- Prof. Dr. Sulaiman M. Yassin *The Challenge to Communication Research in Extension* 22 July 1989
- Prof. Ir. Abang Abdullah Abang Ali Indigenous Materials and Technology for Low Cost Housing 30 August 1990
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Rahman Abdul Razak Plant Parasitic Nematodes, Lesser Known Pests of Agricultural Crops 30 January 1993
- 4. Prof. Dr. Mohamed Suleiman Numerical Solution of Ordinary Differential Equations: A Historical Perspective 11 December 1993
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ariff Hussein *Changing Roles of Agricultural Economics* 5 March 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ismail Ahmad Marketing Management: Prospects and Challenges for Agriculture 6 April 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Mahyuddin Mohd. Dahan The Changing Demand for Livestock Products 20 April 1994
- Prof. Dr. Ruth Kiew *Plant Taxonomy, Biodiversity and Conservation* 11 May 1994
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohd. Zohadie Bardaie Engineering Technological Developments Propelling Agriculture into the 21st Century 28 May 1994
- Prof. Dr. Shamsuddin Jusop Rock, Mineral and Soil 18 June 1994

- Prof. Dr. Abdul Salam Abdullah Natural Toxicants Affecting Animal Health and Production 29 June 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yusof Hussein Pest Control: A Challenge in Applied Ecology 9 July 1994
- Prof. Dr. Kapt. Mohd. Ibrahim Haji Mohamed Managing Challenges in Fisheries Development through Science and Technology 23 July 1994
- Prof. Dr. Hj. Amat Juhari Moain Sejarah Keagungan Bahasa Melayu 6 Ogos 1994
- Prof. Dr. Law Ah Theem Oil Pollution in the Malaysian Seas 24 September 1994
- Prof. Dr. Md. Nordin Hj. Lajis Fine Chemicals from Biological Resources: The Wealth from Nature 21 January 1995
- Prof. Dr. Sheikh Omar Abdul Rahman Health, Disease and Death in Creatures Great and Small 25 February 1995
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Shariff Mohamed Din Fish Health: An Odyssey through the Asia - Pacific Region 25 March 1995
- Prof. Dr. Tengku Azmi Tengku Ibrahim *Chromosome Distribution and Production Performance of Water Buffaloes* 6 May 1995
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Hamid Mahmood Bahasa Melayu sebagai Bahasa Ilmu- Cabaran dan Harapan 10 Jun 1995

- Prof. Dr. Rahim Md. Sail *Extension Education for Industrialising Malaysia: Trends, Priorities and Emerging Issues* 22 July 1995
- Prof. Dr. Nik Muhammad Nik Abd. Majid The Diminishing Tropical Rain Forest: Causes, Symptoms and Cure 19 August 1995
- Prof. Dr. Ang Kok Jee The Evolution of an Environmentally Friendly Hatchery Technology for Udang Galah, the King of Freshwater Prawns and a Glimpse into the Future of Aquaculture in the 21st Century 14 October 1995
- Prof. Dr. Sharifuddin Haji Abdul Hamid Management of Highly Weathered Acid Soils for Sustainable Crop Production 28 October 1995
- Prof. Dr. Yu Swee Yean Fish Processing and Preservation: Recent Advances and Future Directions 9 December 1995
- Prof. Dr. Rosli Mohamad *Pesticide Usage: Concern and Options* 10 February 1996
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ismail Abdul Karim Microbial Fermentation and Utilization of Agricultural Bioresources and Wastes in Malaysia
   March 1996
- Prof. Dr. Wan Sulaiman Wan Harun Soil Physics: From Glass Beads to Precision Agriculture 16 March 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Aziz Abdul Rahman Sustained Growth and Sustainable Development: Is there a Trade-Off 1 or Malaysia 13 April 1996

- Prof. Dr. Chew Tek Ann Sharecropping in Perfectly Competitive Markets: A Contradiction in Terms 27 April 1996
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yusuf Sulaiman Back to the Future with the Sun 18 May 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abu Bakar Salleh *Enzyme Technology: The Basis for Biotechnological Development* 8 June 1996
- Prof. Dr. Kamel Ariffin Mohd. Atan *The Fascinating Numbers* 29 June 1996
- Prof. Dr. Ho Yin Wan *Fungi: Friends or Foes* 27 July 1996
- 35. Prof. Dr. Tan Soon Guan Genetic Diversity of Some Southeast Asian Animals: Of Buffaloes and Goats and Fishes Too 10 August 1996
- Prof. Dr. Nazaruddin Mohd. Jali Will Rural Sociology Remain Relevant in the 21st Century? 21 September 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Rani Bahaman Leptospirosis-A Model for Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Control of Infectious Diseases 16 November 1996
- Prof. Dr. Marziah Mahmood *Plant Biotechnology - Strategies for Commercialization* 21 December 1996
- Prof. Dr. Ishak Hj. Omar Market Relationships in the Malaysian Fish Trade: Theory and Application 22 March 1997

- 40. Prof. Dr. Suhaila Mohamad Food and Its Healing Power 12 April 1997
- Prof. Dr. Malay Raj Mukerjee
   A Distributed Collaborative Environment for Distance Learning Applications
   17 June 1998
- Prof. Dr. Wong Kai Choo Advancing the Fruit Industry in Malaysia: A Need to Shift Research Emphasis
   15 May 1999
- Prof. Dr. Aini Ideris Avian Respiratory and Immunosuppressive Diseases- A Fatal Attraction 10 July 1999
- 44. Prof. Dr. Sariah Meon Biological Control of Plant Pathogens: Harnessing the Richness of Microbial Diversity 14 August 1999
- 45. Prof. Dr. Azizah Hashim The Endomycorrhiza: A Futile Investment? 23 Oktober 1999
- Prof. Dr. Noraini Abdul Samad Molecular Plant Virology: The Way Forward 2 February 2000
- 47. Prof. Dr. Muhamad Awang Do We Have Enough Clean Air to Breathe? 7 April 2000
- Prof. Dr. Lee Chnoong Kheng Green Environment, Clean Power 24 June 2000
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ghazali Mohayidin Managing Change in the Agriculture Sector: The Need for Innovative Educational Initiatives 12 January 2002

- Prof. Dr. Fatimah Mohd. Arshad Analisis Pemasaran Pertanian di Malaysia: Keperluan Agenda Pembaharuan 26 Januari 2002
- Prof. Dr. Nik Mustapha R. Abdullah Fisheries Co-Management: An Institutional Innovation Towards Sustainable Fisheries Industry 28 February 2002
- Prof. Dr. Gulam Rusul Rahmat Ali Food Safety: Perspectives and Challenges 23 March 2002
- 53. Prof. Dr. Zaharah A. Rahman Nutrient Management Strategies for Sustainable Crop Production in Acid Soils: The Role of Research Using Isotopes 13 April 2002
- Prof. Dr. Maisom Abdullah *Productivity Driven Growth: Problems & Possibilities* 27 April 2002
- 55. Prof. Dr. Wan Omar Abdullah Immunodiagnosis and Vaccination for Brugian Filariasis: Direct Rewards from Research Investments 6 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Syed Tajuddin Syed Hassan Agro-ento Bioinformation: Towards the Edge of Reality 22 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Dahlan Ismail Sustainability of Tropical Animal-Agricultural Production Systems: Integration of Dynamic Complex Systems 27 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Ahmad Zubaidi Baharumshah *The Economics of Exchange Rates in the East Asian Countries* 26 October 2002
- Prof. Dr. Shaik Md. Noor Alam S.M. Hussain Contractual Justice in Asean: A Comparative View of Coercion 31 October 2002

■ 92

- Prof. Dr. Wan Md. Zin Wan Yunus Chemical Modification of Polymers: Current and Future Routes for Synthesizing New Polymeric Compounds 9 November 2002
- Prof. Dr. Annuar Md. Nassir Is the KLSE Efficient? Efficient Market Hypothesis vs Behavioural Finance 23 November 2002
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Radin Umar Radin Sohadi Road Safety Interventions in Malaysia: How Effective Are They? 21 February 2003
- Prof. Dr. Shamsher Mohamad *The New Shares Market: Regulatory Intervention, Forecast Errors and Challenges* 26 April 2003
- 64. Prof. Dr. Han Chun Kwong Blueprint for Transformation or Business as Usual? A Structurational Perspective of the Knowledge-Based Economy in Malaysia 31 May 2003
- 65. Prof. Dr. Mawardi Rahmani Chemical Diversity of Malaysian Flora: Potential Source of Rich Therapeutic Chemicals 26 July 2003
- 66. Prof. Dr. Fatimah Md. Yusoff
   An Ecological Approach: A Viable Option for Aquaculture Industry in Malaysia
   9 August 2003
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ali Rajion *The Essential Fatty Acids-Revisited* 23 August 2003
- Prof. Dr. Azhar Md. Zain *Psychotheraphy for Rural Malays - Does it Work?* 13 September 2003

- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Zamri Saad *Respiratory Tract Infection: Establishment and Control* 27 September 2003
- Prof. Dr. Jinap Selamat *Cocoa-Wonders for Chocolate Lovers* 14 February 2004
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Halim Shaari High Temperature Superconductivity: Puzzle & Promises 13 March 2004
- Prof. Dr. Yaakob Che Man Oils and Fats Analysis - Recent Advances and Future Prospects 27 March 2004
- Prof. Dr. Kaida Khalid *Microwave Aquametry: A Growing Technology* 24 April 2004
- 74. Prof. Dr. Hasanah Mohd. Ghazali Tapping the Power of Enzymes- Greening the Food Industry 11 May 2004
- Prof. Dr. Yusof Ibrahim The Spider Mite Saga: Quest for Biorational Management Strategies 22 May 2004
- Prof. Datin Dr. Sharifah Md. Nor The Education of At-Risk Children: The Challenges Ahead 26 June 2004
- 77. Prof. Dr. Ir. Wan Ishak Wan Ismail Agricultural Robot: A New Technology Development for Agro-Based Industry 14 August 2004
- Prof. Dr. Ahmad Said Sajap Insect Diseases: Resources for Biopesticide Development 28 August 2004

- 79. Prof. Dr. Aminah Ahmad The Interface of Work and Family Roles: A Quest for Balanced Lives 11 March 2005
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Razak Alimon *Challenges in Feeding Livestock: From Wastes to Feed* 23 April 2005
- Prof. Dr. Haji Azimi Hj. Hamzah Helping Malaysian Youth Move Forward: Unleashing the Prime Enablers 29 April 2005
- Prof. Dr. Rasedee Abdullah In Search of An Early Indicator of Kidney Disease 27 May 2005
- Prof. Dr. Zulkifli Hj. Shamsuddin Smart Partnership: Plant-Rhizobacteria Associations 17 June 2005
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Khanif Yusop From the Soil to the Table 1 July 2005
- Prof. Dr. Annuar Kassim Materials Science and Technology: Past, Present and the Future 8 July 2005
- Prof. Dr. Othman Mohamed Enhancing Career Development Counselling and the Beauty of Career Games 12 August 2005
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohd Amin Mohd Soom *Engineering Agricultural Water Management Towards Precision Framing* 26 August 2005
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Arif Syed Bioremediation-A Hope Yet for the Environment?
   9 September 2005

- Prof. Dr. Abdul Hamid Abdul Rashid *The Wonder of Our Neuromotor System and the Technological Challenges They Pose* 23 December 2005
- Prof. Dr. Norhani Abdullah Rumen Microbes and Some of Their Biotechnological Applications 27 January 2006
- 91. Prof. Dr. Abdul Aziz Saharee
   Haemorrhagic Septicaemia in Cattle and Buffaloes: Are We Ready for Freedom?
   24 February 2006
- 92. Prof. Dr. Kamariah Abu Bakar Activating Teachers' Knowledge and Lifelong Journey in Their Professional Development
   3 March 2006
- 93. Prof. Dr. Borhanuddin Mohd. Ali Internet Unwired 24 March 2006
- Prof. Dr. Sundararajan Thilagar Development and Innovation in the Fracture Management of Animals 31 March 2006
- Prof. Dr. Zainal Aznam Md. Jelan Strategic Feeding for a Sustainable Ruminant Farming 19 May 2006
- Prof. Dr. Mahiran Basri Green Organic Chemistry: Enzyme at Work 14 July 2006
- Prof. Dr. Malik Hj. Abu Hassan Towards Large Scale Unconstrained Optimization 20 April 2007
- Prof. Dr. Khalid Abdul Rahim Trade and Sustainable Development: Lessons from Malaysia's Experience 22 Jun 2007

- 99. Prof. Dr. Mad Nasir Shamsudin *Econometric Modelling for Agricultural Policy Analysis and Forecasting: Between Theory and Reality* 13 July 2007
- 100. Prof. Dr. Zainal Abidin Mohamed Managing Change - The Fads and The Realities: A Look at Process Reengineering, Knowledge Management and Blue Ocean Strategy 9 November 2007
- 101. Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohamed Daud Expert Systems for Environmental Impacts and Ecotourism Assessments 23 November 2007
- 102. Prof. Dr. Saleha Abdul Aziz Pathogens and Residues; How Safe is Our Meat? 30 November 2007
- 103. Prof. Dr. Jayum A. Jawan Hubungan Sesama Manusia 7 Disember 2007
- 104. Prof. Dr. Zakariah Abdul Rashid Planning for Equal Income Distribution in Malaysia: A General Equilibrium Approach 28 December 2007
- 105. Prof. Datin Paduka Dr. Khatijah Yusoff Newcastle Disease virus: A Journey from Poultry to Cancer 11 January 2008
- 106. Prof. Dr. Dzulkefly Kuang Abdullah Palm Oil: Still the Best Choice 1 February 2008
- 107. Prof. Dr. Elias Saion Probing the Microscopic Worlds by Lonizing Radiation 22 February 2008
- 108. Prof. Dr. Mohd Ali Hassan Waste-to-Wealth Through Biotechnology: For Profit, People and Planet 28 March 2008

- 109. Prof. Dr. Mohd Maarof H. A. Moksin Metrology at Nanoscale: Thermal Wave Probe Made It Simple 11 April 2008
- 110. Prof. Dr. Dzolkhifli Omar The Future of Pesticides Technology in Agriculture: Maximum Target Kill with Minimum Collateral Damage 25 April 2008
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yazid Abd. Manap Probiotics: Your Friendly Gut Bacteria 9 May 2008
- 112. Prof. Dr. Hamami Sahri Sustainable Supply of Wood and Fibre: Does Malaysia have Enough?
  23 May 2008
- Prof. Dato' Dr. Makhdzir Mardan Connecting the Bee Dots 20 June 2008
- Prof. Dr. Maimunah Ismail Gender & Career: Realities and Challenges 25 July 2008
- 115. Prof. Dr. Nor Aripin Shamaan Biochemistry of Xenobiotics: Towards a Healthy Lifestyle and Safe Environment
  1 August 2008
- 116. Prof. Dr. Mohd Yunus Abdullah Penjagaan Kesihatan Primer di Malaysia: Cabaran Prospek dan Implikasi dalam Latihan dan Penyelidikan Perubatan serta Sains Kesihatan di Universiti Putra Malaysia 8 Ogos 2008
- 117. Prof. Dr. Musa Abu Hassan Memanfaatkan Teknologi Maklumat & Komunikasi ICT untuk Semua 15 Ogos 2008
- Prof. Dr. Md. Salleh Hj. Hassan Role of Media in Development: Strategies, Issues & Challenges 22 August 2008

- Prof. Dr. Jariah Masud Gender in Everyday Life 10 October 2008
- 120 Prof. Dr. Mohd Shahwahid Haji Othman Mainstreaming Environment: Incorporating Economic Valuation and Market-Based Instruments in Decision Making 24 October 2008
- Prof. Dr. Son Radu Big Questions Small Worlds: Following Diverse Vistas 31 Oktober 2008
- 122. Prof. Dr. Russly Abdul Rahman Responding to Changing Lifestyles: Engineering the Convenience Foods 28 November 2008
- Prof. Dr. Mustafa Kamal Mohd Shariff Aesthetics in the Environment an Exploration of Environmental: Perception Through Landscape Preference
   9 January 2009
- 124. Prof. Dr. Abu Daud Silong Leadership Theories, Research & Practices: Farming Future Leadership Thinking 16 January 2009
- 125. Prof. Dr. Azni Idris Waste Management, What is the Choice: Land Disposal or Biofuel?
  23 January 2009
- 126. Prof. Dr. Jamilah Bakar Freshwater Fish: The Overlooked Alternative 30 January 2009
- 127. Prof. Dr. Mohd. Zobir Hussein The Chemistry of Nanomaterial and Nanobiomaterial 6 February 2009
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Lee Teang Shui Engineering Agricultural: Water Resources 20 February 2009

- 129. Prof. Dr. Ghizan Saleh Crop Breeding: Exploiting Genes for Food and Feed 6 March 2009
- Prof. Dr. Muzafar Shah Habibullah Money Demand
   27 March 2009
- Prof. Dr. Karen Anne Crouse In Search of Small Active Molecules 3 April 2009
- Prof. Dr. Turiman Suandi Volunteerism: Expanding the Frontiers of Youth Development 17 April 2009
- 133. Prof. Dr. Arbakariya Ariff
   Industrializing Biotechnology: Roles of Fermentation and Bioprocess
   Technology
   8 Mei 2009
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Desa Ahmad Mechanics of Tillage Implements 12 Jun 2009
- 135. Prof. Dr. W. Mahmood Mat Yunus Photothermal and Photoacoustic: From Basic Research to Industrial Applications 10 Julai 2009
- 136. Prof. Dr. Taufiq Yap Yun Hin Catalysis for a Sustainable World 7 August 2009
- 137 Prof. Dr. Raja Noor Zaliha Raja Abd. Rahman Microbial Enzymes: From Earth to Space9 Oktober 2009
- 138 Prof. Ir. Dr. Barkawi Sahari Materials, Energy and CNGDI Vehicle Engineering 6 November 2009

- 139. Prof. Dr. Zulkifli Idrus
   Poultry Welfare in Modern Agriculture: Opportunity or Threat?
   13 November 2009
- 140. Prof. Dr. Mohamed Hanafi Musa Managing Phosphorus: Under Acid Soils Environment 8 January 2010
- 141. Prof. Dr. Abdul Manan Mat Jais Haruan Channa striatus a Drug Discovery in an Agro-Industry Setting 12 March 2010
- 142. Prof. Dr. Bujang bin Kim Huat Problematic Soils: In Search for Solution 19 March 2010
- 143. Prof. Dr. Samsinar Md Sidin Family Purchase Decision Making: Current Issues & Future Challenges 16 April 2010
- 144. Prof. Dr. Mohd Adzir Mahdi Lightspeed: Catch Me If You Can 4 June 2010
- 145. Prof. Dr. Raha Hj. Abdul Rahim Designer Genes: Fashioning Mission Purposed Microbes 18 June 2010
- 146. Prof. Dr. Hj. Hamidon Hj. Basri A Stroke of Hope, A New Beginning 2 July 2010
- 147. Prof. Dr. Hj. Kamaruzaman Jusoff Going Hyperspectral: The "Unseen" Captured? 16 July 2010
- 148. Prof. Dr. Mohd Sapuan Salit Concurrent Engineering for Composites 30 July 2010
- 149. Prof. Dr. Shattri Mansor Google the Earth: What's Next?15 October 2010

- 150. Prof. Dr. Mohd Basyaruddin Abdul Rahman Haute Couture: Molecules & Biocatalysts 29 October 2010
- 151. Prof. Dr. Mohd. Hair Bejo Poultry Vaccines: An Innovation for Food Safety and Security 12 November 2010
- 152. Prof. Dr. Umi Kalsom Yusuf Fern of Malaysian Rain Forest 3 December 2010
- 153. Prof. Dr. Ab. Rahim Bakar Preparing Malaysian Youths for The World of Work: Roles of Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) 14 January 2011
- 154. Prof. Dr. Seow Heng Fong Are there "Magic Bullets" for Cancer Therapy? 11 February 2011
- 155. Prof. Dr. Mohd Azmi Mohd Lila Biopharmaceuticals: Protection, Cure and the Real Winner 18 February 2011
- 156. Prof. Dr. Siti Shapor Siraj Genetic Manipulation in Farmed Fish: Enhancing Aquaculture Production 25 March 2011
- 157. Prof. Dr. Ahmad Ismail Coastal Biodiversity and Pollution: A Continuous Conflict 22 April 2011
- 158. Prof. Ir. Dr. Norman Mariun Energy Crisis 2050? Global Scenario and Way Forward for Malaysia 10 June 2011
- 159. Prof. Dr. Mohd Razi Ismail Managing Plant Under Stress: A Challenge for Food Security 15 July 2011